# Oñati Socio-Legal Series (ISSN: 2079-5971)

Oñati International Institute for the Sociology of Law Avenida Universidad, 8 – Apdo. 28 20560 Oñati – Gipuzkoa – Spain

Tel. (+34) 943 783064 / opo@iisj.net / Available at: https://opo.iisj.net





# An assessment of the arguments against gender inclusivity in rape law in India

Oñati Socio-Legal Series Volume 15 Issue 3 (2025), 1052-1088: Desafíos sociales y jurídicos del nuevo paradigma de la discapacidad intelectual. Un compromiso con los derechos humanos, la inclusión y la igualdad

DOI LINK: <u>HTTPS://DOI.ORG/10.35295/OSLS.IISL.2199</u>

RECEIVED 17 NOVEMBER 2024, ACCEPTED 17 MARCH 2025, FIRST-ONLINE PUBLISHED 3 APRIL 2025, VERSION OF RECORD PUBLISHED 2 JUNE 2025



#### **Abstract**

The article critically analyses the arguments against gender inclusivity in rape law in India using doctrinal, theoretical, and normative methodologies and briefly engages with comparative literature from other jurisdictions. The article begins by critically assessing the strength of major arguments against gender inclusivity in rape laws in India; namely, insufficient number of non-female victims of rape, dilution of importance given to female rape victims, fear of counter allegations and the adequacy of existing provisions of the Bharatiya Nyaya Sanhita, 2023 and the Transgender Protection of Persons Act, 2019 to deal with issues of sexual violence towards non-female victims. Then the article analyses the legislative proceedings and judicial precedents concerning gender neutrality in rape law since 2000. Finally, the article concludes by recommending a revision in the existing rape and sexual offences law in India.

# **Key words**

Gender Inclusive Rape Law; sexual abuse; section 18 TPA; section 63 BNS

#### Resumen

El artículo analiza críticamente los argumentos en contra de la inclusión de la perspectiva de género en la legislación sobre violación en la India utilizando

An earlier draft of this paper was presented at the 20th Asian Law Institute Conference in May 2023 at the National University of Singapore where I received helpful comments from my fellow participants. I thank Phil Rumney, James Chalmers, Clare McGlynn, Sebastien Lafrance and Priya Sunder for their helpful comments on the earlier drafts of this article. For their valuable research assistance, I thank Anoushka Laiker, Sourav K Jha, Md. Hasnain Raza, Shambhavi Vatsa, Vidhi Birmecha, Mann Agarwal, Stuti Singh, Pancham Prabhune and Rushank Kumar.

<sup>\*</sup> Nikunj Kulshreshtha is an Assistant Professor of Law (On Leave) at Jindal Global Law School, O.P. Jindal Global University. He is currently an M.Sc. in Gender student at the Department of Gender Studies, London School of Economics and Political Science. Email: <a href="mailto:nkulshreshtha@jgu.edu.in">nkulshreshtha@jgu.edu.in</a>

metodologías doctrinales, teóricas y normativas, y aborda brevemente la literatura comparada de otras jurisdicciones. El artículo comienza evaluando críticamente la fuerza de los principales argumentos contra la inclusividad de género en las leyes de violación en la India; a saber, el número insuficiente de víctimas no femeninas de violación, la dilución de la importancia dada a las víctimas femeninas de violación, el miedo a las contra-acusaciones y la adecuación de las disposiciones existentes de la Bharatiya Nyaya Sanhita, 2023, y la Ley de Protección de Personas Transgénero, 2019, para abordar las cuestiones de violencia sexual hacia las víctimas no femeninas. A continuación, el artículo analiza los procedimientos legislativos y los precedentes judiciales relativos a la neutralidad de género en la ley de violación desde el año 2000. Por último, el artículo concluye recomendando una revisión de la ley sobre violación y delitos sexuales vigente en la India.

#### Palabras clave

Ley contra la violación con perspectiva de género; abusos sexuales; artículo 18 de la ley de Protección de Personas Transgénero (TPA); artículo 63 del Bharatiya Nyaya Sanhita (BNS)

# **Table of contents**

1. Introduction	1055
2. Analysis of the major arguments against gender neutrality in rape law	1057
2.1. Not enough male, transgender and non-binary sexual assault victims	1057
2.2. Dilution of importance given to the uniqueness of Female Rape Victims	1062
2.3. Fear of counter-allegations in cases of rape	
by accused against complainants	1065
2.4. Existing statutory laws are sufficient to deal with issues of sexual violence	
against men, transgender persons and non-binary individuals	1068
3. An overview of previous attempts to enact a gender-neutral rape law in India	1071
4. Conclusion	1075
References	1076
Cases	1085
Legislations	1087

# 1. Introduction

In 2023, the Indian parliament introduced new bills to replace the three existing major criminal and evidence laws in India. The Indian Penal Code, 1860 (IPC), the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (CrPC), and the Indian Evidence Act, 1873 (IEA) were replaced by the Bharatiya Nyaya Sanhita, 2023 (BNS), Bharatiya Nagarik Suraksha Sanhita, 2023 (BNSS) and Bharatiya Sakshya Bill, 2023 (BSA) respectively, which came into effect from July 2024. Rape as defined under section 63 of the new penal code BNS and previously under section 375 of the IPC, designates the perpetrator as male and the victim as female.1 The BNS retains the same definition of rape as the IPC with the only change being that it raises the age of consent for sexual intercourse by a husband with his wife to minimum of 18 years. The BNS provision of rape is mostly the same as the IPC just like most of the BNS provisions, and courts continue to refer to IPC jurisprudence even in BNS cases (Satender Kumar Antil v Central Bureau of Investigation, 2022; Basanagouda R Patil v Shivananda S Patil, 2024; Suby Antony v Judicial First-Class Magistrate-III, 2025). Therefore the author will refer to cases decided on IPC while discussing BNS provisions even if the law has been changed. For the offence of rape, while a woman cannot be charged as a principal offender, her culpability as an accomplice or facilitator remains a possibility. The Supreme Court in Priya Patel v Union of India (2006) and in State of Rajasthan v Hemraj (2009) ruled that a woman cannot be prosecuted for gang rape even if she facilitates the crime; but in *Om Prakash v State of Haryana* (2015), held that a woman can be prosecuted for abetting gang rape. Therefore, there is a lack of jurisprudential clarity on the culpability of females as accomplices for rape.

Section 377 IPC (absent in the BNS) contained a gender-neutral provision termed as 'Unnatural offences', that criminalised carnal intercourse against the order of nature with any man, woman, or animal, whether consensual or non-consensual. However, the Supreme Court of India in *Navtej Singh Johar v Union of India* (2018) decriminalised consensual sexual relationships between two adult homosexuals, heterosexuals and lesbian women under this section. Still, the words 'against the order of nature' were undefined, reflecting an archaic understanding of sexuality, and the intention of the law was to govern all forms of non-procreative sexual intercourse. The Supreme Court, in *Navtej*, noted that the provision was framed by Macaulay keeping in mind the then prevailing societal morality and his personal views on homosexuality. This provision has been deleted in the BNS. However, many individuals from gender and sexual minorities as well as members of the joint parliamentary committee reviewing the BNS bill recommended retaining this provision.<sup>2</sup> If reintroduced, it could lead to numerous problems. For instance, a trial court in Pune while deciding on a bail application of an accused for the gang rape of a transgender person observed, that the definition in Section

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The perpetrator could be trans-male with a surgically constructed penis and the victim could be trans-woman. However, whether a trans-woman is considered a woman for women related offences under the new penal code is yet to be conclusively decided by the Supreme Court or by the legislature, given conflicting decisions across high courts across India. An appeal to decide whether Transwoman can seek relief under Protection of Women from Domestic Violence Act in pending before the Supreme Court in *Vithal Manik Khatri v Sagar Sanjay Kamble (Sakshi Vithal Khatri)*, Criminal Appeal no. 166 of 2024.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> BNS report; Dissent note by N R Elango to the report no.246 of the Department Related Parliamentary Standing Committee on Home Affairs on The Bharatiya Nyaya Sanhita, 2023; Derek O'Brien Intervention-Parliamentary Standing Committee On Home Affairs (2023).

377 IPC did not include trans victims as it mentions only man, woman or animal (Firstpost 2017). Therefore, it is important to focus on the relevance, working and issues that may come up if this provision were to be reintroduced, which would be discussed later in this paper.

In 2019, the Indian Parliament enacted a new law for protecting the rights of transgender person (The Transgender Persons (Protection of Rights) Act, 2019 – TPA –). The Act defined a transgender person inclusively, encompassing trans-men, trans-women and persons with intersex variations, genderqueer and non-binary persons [Section 2(k), TPA] and introduced a distinct offence of sexual abuse of a transgender person by another person [Section 18(d), TPA]. Theoretically, Indian laws provide legal remedies against sexual assault for women, trans and non-binary individuals. However, it must be noted that the punishment for rape of women under Section 64 BNS attracts a minimum of 10 years up to life imprisonment and a fine (Sections 64-71 BNS), whereas the erstwhile Section 377 IPC had prescribed life imprisonment with no mandatory minimum sentence. Under the TPA, the maximum penalty for sexual abuse of a transgender person is imprisonment of 2 years and a fine. Such disproportionate disparities in punishments reflects a lack of seriousness and legislative attention towards sexual violence against adult transgender and non-binary persons compared to women victims including an absence of consideration of male rape victims.<sup>3</sup>

Providing equitable justice to all victims of sexual violence requires legal reform, either by framing a gender-inclusive<sup>4</sup> definition of sexual assault similar to Canada's approach or by enacting separate laws of sexual assault covering persons of all and no genders as in England and Wales, Ireland, New Zealand and many Australian states.<sup>5</sup> It is noteworthy that in recent years, South-Asian countries such as Pakistan and Bhutan have also framed gender-inclusive rape laws (Pakistan Penal Code, 1860, Section 375; Bhutan Penal Code, 2004, Section 177). Nepal's penal code has a gender-neutral provision prohibiting sexual intercourse with detainees (The National Penal (Code) Act, 2017, Clause 221), whereas Sri Lanka's penal code defines grave sexual abuse of a person in gender-neutral terms (Penal Code of Sri Lanka, 1883, Section 365B). The Penal code of Maldives defines sexual assault in gender-neutral terms, but does not criminalise situations where a woman forces a man to penetrate her (Maldives Penal Code, 2014, Section 130). These developments are significant, especially given their shared colonial pasts and similar societal structures, with conservative sexual values.<sup>6</sup> Therefore, a lack of gender-inclusive rape law in India needs to have a strong rationale.

<sup>3</sup> For the purposes of this paper, the term "non-binary persons" would refer to persons with intersex variations and socio-cultural identities as per Section 2(k) of the TPA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The author would use the terms "gender inclusive" and "gender neutral" with respect to rape law interchangeably throughout the paper. While the Indian government prefers the term "gender neutral", the author prefers the term "gender inclusive".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Canadian Criminal Code, 1985, Sections 271-273; Sexual Offences Act, 2003, Sections 1-4 (England and Wales); Criminal Law (RAPE) (Amendment) Act, 1990, Sections 2,3,4 (Ireland); The Crimes Act, 1961, Section 128 (New Zealand); Crimes Act, 1958, Section 38-40 (Victoria), Criminal Law Consolidation Act, 1935, Sections 48-49 (South Australia), Criminal Code Act, 1899, Sections 349-352 (Queensland), Criminal Code Act, 1924, Section 185 and 127 (Tasmania), Criminal Code, 1913, Section 325 (Western Australia).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Penal codes of countries in the Indian subcontinent, except Nepal and Bhutan, are based on the IPC established by the British in 1860. Most of these countries have also recognized gender neutrality in offences of domestic violence.

Gender neutrality in rape laws has been extensively discussed by scholars across jurisdictions. Yvette Russell (2013), Siobhan Weare (2018), Natasha McKeever (2019) and Phil Rumney (2007) examined gender neutrality in sexual offence laws in England and Wales. Leila Ullrich (2021) analysed the lack of recognition of male victims of rape while Laura Sjoberg (2016) discussed female perpetrators, male and non-binary victims of rape in the context of international criminal justice. However, their analysis may not fully apply to the Indian context. In India, Pathak (2016), Sharma (2020) and Roy (2023) have advocated for a gender-neutral rape law. However, their arguments do not focus on the detailed examination of the strength of the objections against gender inclusivity in rape laws. This paper seeks to supplement their arguments by analysing the strengths of the major objections against framing rape laws for male, trans and non-binary victims and female and non-binary offenders in India. By addressing aspects not previously discussed, this analysis seeks to make an original contribution to literature.

It is important to note that the author advocates for gender inclusivity in Indian rape laws from both the offender and victim perspectives. The perpetrator as well as victim could be male, female, trans or non-binary individuals and their sexuality would be irrelevant in determining culpability under the law. The author advocates for a gender inclusive sexual assault law which would be based on principles of violation of bodily integrity and sexual autonomy as the fundamental basis of offending rather than on the identity of the offender. However, the literature and scholars referred in the paper may not always be arguing for gender inclusivity in rape laws from the author's perspective. Therefore, in such cases, the author would specifically mention the context and nature of offending on the basis of which the relevant scholar is situating their arguments.

This article is divided into two sections. The first section explores four major arguments against enacting a gender-inclusive rape law: a) limited statistics on non-female rape victims, b) dilution of importance given to female rape victims, who constitute the majority, c) fear of counter allegations in cases involving female perpetrators and d) the perceived adequacy of existing provisions in the IPC and TPA in addressing issues of sexual violence against non-females. The second section traces previous attempts to enact a gender-neutral rape law in India and understand their outcomes, before concluding.

## 2. Analysis of the major arguments against gender neutrality in rape law

The major arguments against introducing gender inclusivity in the law can be summarised as follows: a) statistically insufficient male, transgender and non-binary victims of sexual assault, b) potential diminishment of the importance given to female rape victims, who form majority of such victims, c) possible counter allegations of rape made against genuine victims and d) adequacy of existing sexual assault laws to address non-female victims. Let us assess the strength of these arguments individually.

#### 2.1. Not enough male, transgender and non-binary sexual assault victims

Flavia Agnes (2002, 846), a renowned activist and researcher, criticised the gender neutrality advocated in the Law Commission's 172<sup>nd</sup> report (2000), arguing that there was no reported sexual offence by an adult female on an adult male in India since 1980. She further argued that western nations who introduced such laws are realising that

these laws harm women more than helping men (TNN 2012). However, she doesn't provide any evidence for her arguments. It is worth noting that in the absence of a statutory law recognising sexual violence against persons other than women, it is difficult to accurately determine the actual number of victims (Krug *et al.* 2002). India's current annual crime data survey, conducted by the National Crime Records Bureau, focuses solely on legislated offenses while reporting crime statistics, thereby creating a vicious cycle, which makes it difficult to accurately determine the actual number of nonfemale victims. A general annual survey of victimisation like the one conducted by the government of England and Wales would have been helpful.

Elizabeth McDonald (2019, 191-192), in the context of New Zealand, argues that gender inclusivity in rape laws should be accompanied by nuanced information gathering on offender and victim characteristics such as age, sex, gender identity and sexual orientation. Disclosing this information to the police and support agencies would assist policymakers determine the reforms needed and create training and sensitisation materials for members of the criminal justice machinery, a practise that would also benefit the Indian legal system. Even with a statutory law, accurate data collection can be challenging due to underreporting, led by severe social stigma attached to marginalisation of men who have sex with men in India (Chakrapani et al. 2007). However, some attempts to determine the extent of victimisation of male victims of sexual violence have been made. The Centre for Civil Society (CCS 2013, 3) conducted an online empirical survey among men in India regarding their experience of sexual coercion. Out of the 222 relevant responses from men above the age of 18, 16% reported being coerced or forced to have sex by an adult woman, while 2% cited male perpetrators. The National Human Rights Commission's (NHRC 2014) report highlighted same-sex rapes as a major reason for prison suicides. Surendra Naik (2020, 125) conducted an online survey examining societal perspectives on the prevalence of sexual abuse of males in India. Of the 340 responses analysed, including 196 males and 120 females, 82.6% reported that they had heard about men being raped, yet 43.8% were unaware of the lack of legal mechanisms to protect men from sexual abuse. 40% of males admitted to being sexually harassed, assaulted or being vulnerable in such situations.

Chatterjee and Srivastava (2021) conducted a similar survey to determine the prevalence of sexual harassment against men at workplaces. Out of 75 responses including 49 males and 26 females, 37.3% had come across cases of sexual harassment of men, while 13.3% experienced unwelcome sexual advances by their female superiors. While the author concedes that these surveys reflect a limited number of sexual violence cases faced by men, they do constitute sufficient evidence of the fact that there are male victims and female perpetrators of sexual violence. Lack of legal recognition of their victimisation and the social stigma may dissuade many men from reporting such incidents, thereby underrepresenting such victims of sexual violence. It is essential to understand why there is a general belief that there are no adult female sexual offenders. Sharma (2020, 90) attributes this to the assumption that females in the global south are disempowered and incapable of rape. This is based to some extent on the restrictive understanding of rape as a physical act and the biological misunderstanding of male response to sexual stimuli (Fruchs 2004).

Scholars advocate for moving the sexual assault laws from being phallus-centric to one focusing on violation of bodily integrity and sexual autonomy (Graham 2006, Kulshreshtha 2019, McKeever 2019). Some might find this argument unconvincing, noting that digital and object-based penetration and non-consensual oral sex also constitute rape in India. However, retaining penetration as a defining basis for measuring sexual violation creates a heteronormative norm in legislation, since the idea of penetration itself reflects a performative notion of the male genitalia (Annavarapu 2013, 260). Judith Butler's (1993) in her theory of heterosexuality, similarly asserts that heterosexuality is determined based on who can and who gets to be penetrated. This notion has been passed over generations and concludes that whoever penetrates is masculine and who is penetrated is feminine, which has remained the basis of the law in India.

Similar arguments were made in the English context by Robson, Newman and O'Hagan (2021). In English law, 'forced to penetrate' cases are recognised under the offence of causing a person to engage in sexual activity without consent, and not under rape. While the offence of rape also includes male-on-male rape and is no longer framed around heterosexuality, the fact that only penetrative penile sex is recognised as 'rape' still remains problematic. This could be based on stereotypes surrounding male victims of sexual violence. For example, in *Raghavji v State of Madhya Pradesh* (2023), the victim alleged non-consensual carnal intercourse over a three-year period. The victim, a homeless man, stated that he sought a job from the accused, a state minister, which he arranged in return for sexual favours. The accused filed a quashing petition stating the relations were consensual.

Despite the obvious power imbalance between the victim and the accused, and the dire financial circumstances of the victim under which he sought a job, the court deemed the sexual acts consensual since the victim did not complain about his ordeal to anyone in the three years, deeming this fatal in impacting the credibility of the victim's allegation. The undue focus of the court on the lack of victim's diligence in bringing forth the victimisation over three years is concerning. If the complainant had been a minor, the accused's behaviour would constitute as grooming but since the complainant was an adult, no such vulnerability was assumed in the court's perception. This case demonstrates the problematic general perception that males cannot be victims of sexual violence (Mezey and King 1989).

Scholars also argue that physiological responses, such as erections, during sexual assault may lead authorities to wrongly assume consent (Fruchs 2004, Levin and van Berlo 2004, Bullock and Beckson 2011). Despite studies highlighting these issues, the lack of legal recognition of male and non-binary sexual violence under rape laws significantly limits the reach of such vital literature. Socio-cultural factors and gendered upbringing in patriarchal societies also contribute to men's reluctance to report sexual abuse (Sanjay Deshpande 2019, 248). Navpreet Kaur and Roger Byard's (2022) study on male acid attack victims in India noted significant underreporting due to the social stigma of failing to defend themselves from the attack. Therefore, societal conditioning plays a definite role in the lack of sufficient numbers of men reporting sexual violence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Section 1 of the Sexual Offences Act, 2003, defines rape, and Section 4 defines causing a person to engage in sexual activity without consent.

Contextual situations such as class and power dynamics also influence sexual violence faced by men. Male, trans and non-binary prisoners are vulnerable to sexual abuse including rape by women police officers in their custody (Narrain 2012). This was particularly noticed during the Abu Ghraib torture and prisoner abuse in Afghanistan in 2006, where two female American soldiers, Lynndie England and Sabrina Harman, were photographed engaging in sexual, physical and psychological abuse on male prisoners, and were later convicted. Sexual violence against men during conflict by female perpetrators is not new, as evidenced by historical events such as the Armenian, and the Rwandan and Congo genocides (Sjoberg 2016, 59, 66, 98), and the Sri Lankan civil war (Touquet 2018). Extensive same-sex rape has been noted among Palestinian prisoners in Israeli prisons and Rwandan women during the genocide perpetrated by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko (Sjoberg 2016, Zarkov 2022, 108-109). Laura Sjoberg (2016, 96) explains that while female perpetrators are indeed discussed in media coverage of war criminals, legal and scholarly literature, the timing, nature of their motivations and gender stereotypes tend to project their actions as reasonable or as an outlier event.

Sjoberg contends that rape is about exertion of racialised, gendered or class power dynamics rather than about male or female identities. She explains that gender subordination is a class relationship where femininities are less valued than masculinities, where these classes are defined based on perceptions of strength and weakness, rather than biological bodies. Such subordination can be seen as socially fluid and gendered order changes based on time, place and culture, an argument supported by scholars such as Ulrich (2021) and Gear and Ngubeni (2002). The above incidents highlight the vulnerability of non-female individuals to sexual assault in a prison situation.8 Further, sexual and physical abuse towards transgender and non-binary persons by police and other state officials has been noted by many human rights groups (International Commission of Jurists – ICJ – 2019, Bhat 2022, Kothari et al. 2022), such as the People's Union for Civil Liberties (2001) and the Commonwealth Human Rights Initiative (2020) in India. Therefore, there is enough documented literature showing a growing number of non-female victims of sexual violence in India.

Even if the number of non-female victims of sexual abuse were relatively small, that by itself does not constitute reason to deny them legal protection under the ambit of rape law or provide inadequate punishment to their perpetrators. The Indian Constitution allows for unequal or preferential treatment under the law for marginalised groups. For instance, Articles 15(3) and 16(4) allow the government to create special provisions for advancing women and children or backward communities. However, the determination of backwardness of any particular community can be based on a scientific study or survey in line with the decision in Kailash Chand Sharma. No such study has been conducted in India to determine the quantum of non-female victims of sexual assault. However, the state has the authority to declare sexual minorities such as trans and nonbinary persons, as marginalised for providing them with legal recognition for the purposes of sexual violence.9 Legal precedents exist for such actions including the Supreme Court's decision in *NALSA v Union of India* (2014), to provide legal recognition to the socially and economically marginalised transgender community, and

<sup>8</sup> Same sex rape was also mentioned as one of the reasons for suicide in Indian prisons by NHRC (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Under Articles 15(3) and 16(4) of the Indian Constitution.

recommendation to provide them reservation in education and public employment. Similarly, the Indian Parliament enacted special laws for the protection of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes against mistreatment under the Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes (Prevention of Atrocities Act), 1989.

The government and NGOs concerned with women's rights (NGOWR) have argued several times for retaining gender specificity in rape law, given large-scale victimisation of women and the constitutional principles of reasonable classification and underinclusion (PLD 2010a, 2010b), Mundkur and Narrain (2013) and Sanjjiv Kkumaar 2018). As far as the large-scale victimisation of women is concerned, the Supreme Court held that a law could be made for even a single person if it is evident that the specific reasons applied only to them and to no-one else (Chiranjit Lal Chowdhuri, 1950, para 86). As for the principle of reasonable classification, Article 14 permits the state to treat similarly situated individuals unequally to provide substantive equality to marginalised groups. A reasonable classification needs to fulfil three parameters: it must be founded on an intelligible differentia distinguishing those that are grouped together from others, the differentia must have a rational relation to the object sought to be achieved by the act and there must be non-discriminatory and non-arbitrary intent of the law (KR Laxman 2001; Subramanian Swamy 2015; Joseph Shine 2019). All three conditions must be satisfied in the opinion of any court to uphold such classification (Nagpur Improvement Trust 1973). Article 14 of the Indian constitution guarantees similarity of treatment and not identical treatment. Therefore, it seems logical to provide more resources to female victims of sexual violence, and specific policies such as fast-track courts to cater to their needs, given their large numbers. However, denying the most basic recognition of legal violation of non-female victims under the existing rape law would be an unjust classification which the courts can easily strike down (K. Thimmappa 2001).

The second constitutional principle relied upon for denying recognition to non-female victims under rape laws is under-inclusion. This doctrine allows the legislature to deal with problems in a piecemeal manner, as an exception to the three-step classification test (Ambica Mills 1974). Derived from the American legal system and largely applicable to fiscal or economic laws, this doctrine's reliance on laws concerning constitutional, fundamental and civil rights is questionable and limited (Girish Kumar Navlakha 1975). Justice Bhat in Janhit Abhiyan (2023, 338-339) held that an under-inclusionary law would be constitutional only if it is reasonable. The legislature has a wider leeway for underinclusion in economic policies, unlike in other areas. Scholars have even questioned the Supreme Court's review standards for under-inclusionary laws and the inadequate exploration of this doctrine in Indian courts (Bhardwaj 2023, Sebastian 2023). Justice Bhat also cited the ratio of the Supreme Court in Roop Chand Adlakha (1989, 124), where it held that to overdo classification is to undo equality. Therefore, courts must carefully scrutinise laws denying protection under rape laws solely based on the rationale of under-inclusion, especially when they are enacted without relying on scientific studies or surveys.

The Supreme Court of India has unequivocally rejected the government's *de minimus* rationale that violations of fundamental rights can be justified on the basis that very few persons are being affected by it, in both *KS Puttaswamy* (2017) and *Navtej Singh Johar* (2018). Similarly, Justice Wachtler in *People v Liberta* (1984), rejected a similar argument

by the State of New York, where he said that the infrequency of female sexual offending would not by itself be a reason to deny their culpability. Statistically, females rarely commit serious crimes, however, that would not justify exclusion of their punishment. Therefore, the argument that there are not enough male, trans and non-binary victims of sexual assault to justify a change in the rape law in India does not seem acceptable.

## 2.2. Dilution of importance given to the uniqueness of Female Rape Victims

Radical feminist scholars such as Catherine MacKinnon (1990, 3-13), Patricia Novotny (2003), Andrea Dworkin (1987) and Ngaire Naffine (1994a, 1994b) argue that gender neutrality in rape law is a backlash against feminism, undermining the exclusive acknowledgement of violence against women. Susan Brownmiller (1975, 209) calls rape a conscious act by which men keep women in a constant fear of sexual victimisation. May and Strikwerda (1994), argue that men as a class collectively benefit directly and indirectly from the harm inflicted on women; making this crime gender-neutral would be denying the gendered nature of rape and belittle the harm suffered by women. There is no denying that the constant lived reality of sexual victimisation gives women an accurate sense of their vulnerability to sexual violence (Hampton 1999, Brison 2002). However, these arguments fail to consider the reality of male sexual victimisation (McKeever 2019).

Brownmiller (1975, 379) herself acknowledged the reality of male victimisation to rape and the non-penetrative methods of sexual violation such as forced oral sex as equally degrading and violative of personal bodily integrity. Her argument reflects that the reality of male rape has been in public domain amongst leading feminist scholars since the 70s. However, it did not achieve mainstream acceptance due to its perceived effects of dilution on the protection of women's rights. She was against the idea of a hierarchy of sexual violation where non-penetrative acts were seen as less violating towards the victim irrespective of their gender. This is because the intention of the assailant is to degrade and humiliate the victim by denying their personal bodily integrity and autonomy. Therefore, there is no logical reason for not considering the recognition of non-female victims or of female perpetrators of sexual violation as equally harmful towards male victims.

Agnes (TNN 2012), argued that rape involves a unique sense of physicality and use of power against women, bringing them shame and stigma. However, these very reasons affect female victims adversely. The uniqueness of female victims has negative consequences of stereotyping and perpetuating victimhood (Berns 2001, 279). The construction of women as the real and only possible rape victims has a coercive effect in making women believe that such an identity is natural and inevitable by locking them in a state of perpetual victimhood (Sen 2010). Women end up being perceived as sexually passive, vulnerable and gatekeepers to sexual activity while shifting the blame of sexual aggression entirely on males (Mulenhard 1988, 30), an argument supported by feminist scholars such as Susan Brownmiller (1975, 379), Lara Stemple (2011), Louise du Toit and Elisabet le Roux (2021) and Laura Sjoberg (2016, 129-130). Halley (2006, 31-33) in the context of governance feminist scholars flagged similar concerns that they fails to recognize their existing power and their aspirations for power, thereby continuing to view themselves using prisms of female submission and male hegemony.

Sjoberg (2016, 60) argues that the statistical rarity of female perpetrators does not justify downplaying recognition of sexual vulnerability for non-female victims and that the existence of women committing sexual violence during conflicts and wars negate the myth of specialised victimisation of women. Majority of victims of sexual violence perpetrated by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko during the Rwandan genocide were women and were victimised because they were women. Accounts of numerous victims interviewed suggest that these women perpetrated sexual violence either personally or by facilitating such perpetration (African Rights 1995, 21-39), by identifying as cheerleaders for male rapists. One woman accused of genocide for encouraging a male rapist by singing, contends that she should not be punished as she did not personally rape the victim. Such belief is attributed by Sjoberg to the oversimplistic understanding of victim/perpetrator as female/male respectively. This also explains why the Indian Supreme Court's jurisprudence on the issue of female complicity during rape/gang-rape is unclear. Thus, one could argue that the idea of recognition of only male perpetrator/female victim is problematic.

Agnes argued that a gender-neutral rape law would open avenues for inflicting even greater trauma and humiliation on women, an already marginalised section of society (TNN 2012). However, legal reforms and societal concerns have evolved since then, and it cannot be denied that significant resources have been dedicated to addressing crimes against women. For example, establishing women only police stations, allotting female police officers in women related crimes, and creation of specialised courts for dealing with crimes against women. Here, one needs to remember that sexual minorities in India are uniquely placed with respect to their vulnerability to sexual abuse. Further, while homosexuality was decriminalised in Navtej in 2018, the Supreme Court in *Supriyo v Union of India* (2023) refused to allow state recognition of marriage for non-heteronormative individuals under the Special Marriage Act, 1954, holding that this was under the domain of the legislature. Thus, the state is a long way from according them full personhood in the legal system and by extension in society (Mandal 2023, Dam 2023). The uniquely precarious situation of trans-persons, queer and non-binary individuals concerning sexual exploitation cannot be ignored.

Gender inclusive sexual assault laws including men and non-binary individuals as victims and women as perpetrators were enacted in 1983 in Canada, in 2003 in England and Wales and in most states of Australia since 1990's and in New Zealand since 2005. Scholars in these jurisdictions have debated the advantages and disadvantages of gender-neutral rape/sexual assault laws. In the English context, Yvette Russell (2013) argued about the negative effects of a gender-inclusive law on female victims while Phil Rumney (2007) and Siobhan Weare (2018) argued that the existing sexual assault law in Sexual Offences Act, 2003 fails to adequately deal with issues of male victims. Similarly,

 $^{10}$  2013 saw major reforms in rape laws, took wherein majority of resources were dedicated to dealing with issues of violence towards women. See Kulshreshtha (2020) and (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Canada Criminal Code, 1985, Sections 272-273; Sexual Offences Act, 2003. The sexual assault law remains distinct for different genders in England. However, females cannot be charged with rape of a man but are instead prosecuted under Section 4 of the SOA for causing a person to engage in sexual activity without consent.

in Canada, arguments against gender inclusivity were made by Lise Gotell (2010, 209-210) and Christine Boyle (1985).

The author noted a general lack of evidentiary foundation in the arguments of the scholars arguing against gender inclusivity in rape laws or its adverse impact. Most of them have not adduced empirical or ethnographical evidence or testimonies, to show that female rape victims have been negatively impacted because of gender inclusivity in rape laws. Without objective evidence, one could argue that these objections stem from ideological differences rather than actual impacts. Toit and Roux (2021, 119), in the context of conflict related sexual violence, argue that feminist scholars' reluctance to engage with male rape victims based on its assumed negative effect on female victims upholds patriarchal meanings of sexual violence, which further marginalises male victims. Sophie Hindes (2022) argues that politicisation of violence of women unintendedly contributes to a narrative that sexual violence is exclusively a women's issue, occurring only in heterosexual relationships. Interviews with sexual assault support workers and the LGBTQ community, workers in Victoria and South Australia similarly suggest that decades of feminist research on gender and sexual violence fails to account for the role of social powers such as heterosexism and cissexism in influencing people's perception of sexual violence (Mortimer et al. 2019). Their study explains how sexual violence typically assumes cisgender heterosexual contexts, portraying sexually aggressive men and passive women, thereby trivializing and concealing sexual violence faced by LGBTQ individuals.

Scholars such as Sjoberg (2016, 133), Ison (2019), Kodamaya and Sato (2022), O'Donohue and Grey (2022) and Baaz and Stern (2013) have made similar arguments. It is important to note that none of these scholars including the author advocate for completely disregarding gender considerations in sexual violence. Rather, it is critical that the law and members of the criminal justice machinery acknowledge that individuals do not always conform to their sex, gender or societal roles. The author does not contend that gender neutrality should diminish the role of gender in sexual offences law, but rather about recognising that anyone can be a perpetrator or victim of sexual violence, regardless of their gender or sexuality. Gender being a social construct, influences individuals' experiences and perceptions.

While the author recognises the unique impact of rape on female victims and their situation in a patriarchal society, similar arguments of unique victimisation and its effects can be made for male, trans, non-binary and queer victims. For example, men also face constraints to act within strictly defined gender roles of aggressive and toxic masculinity, inhibiting them from openly speaking about their vulnerabilities, or experiences of sexual abuse, as noted in empirical studies in India (Deshpande 2019, Kaur and Byard 2022). Feelings of low self-esteem due to lack of performance of societal masculinity is explained by Raewyn Connell theory of 'Hegemonic Masculinity' (2005). Connell suggests that masculinity is constructed by society via traits such as independence, dominance and assertiveness, traits which are expected to be exhibited by all men. This helps explain why men assaulted by other men perceived themselves as emasculated, and express their experiences as homosexualisation or perversion (Zarkov 2022). Zarkov's research on male rape during ethnic conflicts in Yugoslavia illustrates how such violations undermine masculinity and morale (2022, 113). She

contends that rape of women does not destroy their femininity, but rape of men destroys their masculinity.

Before NALSA (2014), sexual minorities were looked upon as an object of disgust and faced neglect from the state. Even post NALSA, laws concerning trans and non-binary individuals continue to operate using the lens of heteronormativity (Ghosh and Sanyal 2019, Sinha 2022). Despite decriminalisation of non-heterosexual relations in Navtej (2018), anecdotal evidence suggests vulnerability of queer and non-binary individuals to a unique form of sexual violation (Kumar 2024). For example, queer individuals using dating apps to maintain discretion of their sexuality, have been targeted for sexual exploitation, with perpetrators threatening to publicly reveal their sexual orientation, 12 knowing that their victimisation will not be taken seriously by police (Pinch et al. 2022, Sharma 2022). Similar accounts of exploitation were reported by trans and non-binary individuals in prisons in India (Ganesan and Dadoo 2020, Shantha 2021, Mahaseth and Jain 2023). Therefore, this makes their victimisation to sexual abuse similarly unique like male or female victims. Thus, all victims of sexual assault have different reasons for being placed in a position of vulnerability, and it would not be appropriate to prioritise one group's recognition of legal harm over another's. The New Zealand Court of Appeal made a similar suggestion in R v Ngawahika (1987), where a transvestite was convicted of unlawful sexual connection of a young man, but received a lenient sentence of 3 years. On appeal, the court held 'that any suggestion of a hierarchy of sexual offences classifying violation of a female as prima facie more serious than violation of a male has to be avoided'.

Scholars have discussed the idea that the criminal justice machinery is already overburdened with the existing caseload, and it would take years for them to be dealt with (Kulshreshtha 2020, PRS 2021). However, these concerns overlook the fact that sexual assault towards non-female victims remain unrecognised under the existing rape law in the new BNS and were barely recognized under the older IPC.<sup>13</sup> What is being advocated is an appropriate labelling of sexual violence directed towards non-female victims and a dedicated effort to treat these victims under the ambit of the same law as female rape victims. While this could increase the pressure on existing resources, it can be resolved by a sustained focus of the government to develop appropriate infrastructure and contribute resources to ensure that legal protection could be extended to all parties harmed by sexual violence equally (Rumney 2007). Therefore, the argument that framing gender-neutral rape laws would dilute the importance given to female victims of rape has limited evidentiary basis.

# 2.3. Fear of counter-allegations in cases of rape by accused against complainants

Another objection to the framing of gender-neutral rape laws is the fear of counterallegations by the accused. At the outset, it is essential to note the ratio of the Supreme Court in *Collector of Customs v Nathella Sampathu Chetty* (1962, para 34), which expressly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The term 'Outing' in the LGBTIQA+ community refers to the act of revealing a person's gender identity or sexuality preference publicly. Most individuals especially in developing countries prefer to keep these details private from the fear of violence, ridicule or discrimination.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Section 377, IPC generally and Section 18(d) of the TPA for trans individuals. Section 377 equivalent is absent in the BNS.

stated that misuse of a provision is no ground to hold it procedurally or substantively unreasonable. The law recognising non-female victims of sexual violence even if legislated can potentially be misused. However, apprehensions of a counter-allegation, albeit a reasonable one, does not mean that it will necessarily be made in every case or that it would impact the credibility of the victim's complaint. These arguments seem more like hyperbole assertations designed to defeat any attempt to reform the status quo.

In the past decade, courts and scholars have observed misuse of specific laws such as on dowry prohibition, harassment, domestic violence, rape and unnatural offences. Criminal law is often applied for purposes unintended by lawmakers. For instance, kidnapping and rape are often misused when families disapprove of the choice of partners due to religious or caste differences (Vishwanath 2018, 2022, Parthasarthy and Oza 2020). Further, in cases of rape on the pretext of marriage, complainants have manipulated the law of rape on the advice of police to coerce their partners to marry them. Zoe Brereton (2017) noted how women police officers in the state of Uttar Pradesh encouraged complainants to frame their complaints of rape on the pretext of marriage in a scripted manner, ensuring that the complainants' moral credibility would not get affected for engaging in premarital sex. This was done in order to coerce the other side to compensate the complainant with a marriage proposal.

Another study on the widespread perception of misuse of dowry harassment provision, found that most complainants withdrew their complaints after filing them, intending to leverage state's support and arrest power to end domestic violence at homes, where power differentials based on gender, class, or family support were lacking (Dave et al. 2017, 87-88). Agnes (2015) also contends the same and cites it as a reason for the widespread perception of misuse of these laws. Contrary to this opinion, courts have noticed that allegations of domestic violence and sexual abuse are routinely made in matrimonial disputes to coerce men into negotiating a higher settlement (Ajit Naharsingh Dasana 2021, Santhosh 2017, Mukesh Bansal 2022, Rajesh 2021). The Supreme Court, recognising indiscriminate arrest and misuse of these provisions, issued guidelines deterring police officers from conducting routine arrests in matrimonial disputes (Arnesh Kumar 2014). In Achin Gupta v Union of India (2024), the Supreme Court requested the legislature to consider revising the laws protecting women from dowry harassment under the BNS. However, in the author's opinion, even the widespread misuse of this provision needs to be properly studied rather than being based on anecdotal cases decided by individual courts.

The author certainly acknowledges the realities of societal structure in India, which forces women to seek state support and arrest power to end domestic violence. However, the trend noted by various courts in misuse by unscrupulous litigants in connivance with lawyers cannot be ignored. Despite this, no calls have been made for completely repealing these laws by the legislature or majority members of the public, clearly recognizing their intended benefits for certain sections of society, considering the

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Misuse of Domestic Violence Laws by female complainants have been noted by the Supreme Court in *Arnesh Kumar* (2014) and in *Kahkashan Kausar* (2022).

historical and societal prejudices against them. Similarly, the assumption of misuse of a gender-neutral rape law is by itself no logical ground to deny its enactment.

Despite the enactment of gender-neutral laws in jurisdictions such as Canada and England and Wales, no reports of the widespread trend of counter allegations in sexual assault/rape cases have come up. Even assuming a counter-allegation is made, the court would dismiss it if found meritless. For instance, consider the English case of *R v Hodge* (2018) where a 49-year-old man was accused of rape, assault by penetration and sexual assault by the 18-year-old daughter of his employee. The accused on being arrested, and prior to release on bail, did not make any statement to the police, despite the police stating that his semen was found on the girl's sofa cushion at home. On being subsequently charged, he stated that the semen was a result of non-consensual masturbation performed on him by the complainant. His explanation was deemed unconvincing by the jury and he was convicted of rape, sexual penetration and sexual assault. His appeal against his conviction was dismissed by the court, and his arguments and the two witness who testified in his support were dismissed as meritless.

A single case by itself cannot be an indication of certainty, but the Hodge decision illustrates how courts can effectively handle counter-allegations. A similar example of this in the Indian context is *King Victor Marak v State of Meghalaya* (2023). Here, the accused filed an appeal against his conviction on a charge of aggravated sexual assault on a four-year-old child, and his mother, brother and cousin sister testified on his behalf attesting to his innocence. However, the High Court of Meghalaya dismissed all these testimonies for lack of reliability, while also noting that the defence witnesses were tutored and the trial judge should have charged them with perjury. While this is not a case of adult rape and the above two cases cannot be used to form a definitive opinion, the author's limited contention is that counter complainants and false testimonies are routinely made in cases before courts who are generally well-equipped to deal with such issues. Therefore, there seems to be no reasonable ground for doubting the capability of courts to deal with false testimonies or malicious cases.

While the author may appear relatively optimistic regarding judicial decision-making on rape cases in India, this stems from the series of progressive decisions taken by judicial officers in sexual offence cases such as protecting vulnerable witness during depositions (Smruti Tukaram Badade 2022), admonishing of allowance of humiliating questioning of rape victims during cross-examinations (Ranjeet Shahaji Gade 2021) and overturning inappropriate analysis of sexual offence provisions (Satish 2022). Post Navtej, several decisions by high courts across India have accorded protection to same sex couples (Sreeja S. 2018, Chinmayee Jena 2020, S. Sushma 2021), included preventing premature gender reassignment surgery on an intersex child (Health Secretary, Kerala 2023) and directed reservation of places in politically representative bodies for transgender individuals (The President 2023, Dhananjay Chauhan 2023). While there remains a lot to be desired in terms of judicial analysis in rape cases, and the above constitute limited situations of progressive decisions, one could argue that dealing with false testimonies and malicious cases even in rape cases would not be particularly difficult to adjudicate for the Indian judiciary.

Scholars like Harshad Pathak (2016, 392-393) and Anupama Sharma (2020, 86-87) acknowledge the possibility of counter-complaints against the victim under a gender-

neutral rape law, but also maintain that this would be the same for all kinds of victims under the ambit of a gender-neutral law. It is also important to focus on developing mechanisms for bringing malicious prosecutors and perjurers to justice as was mentioned in *Marak* (2023).<sup>15</sup> Therefore, the mere prospect of a counter-complainant is not a sufficient deterrent from granting protection against sexual violence to non-female individuals or for recognising that any person irrespective of their gender or sexuality can be a perpetrator of sexual violence.

2.4. Existing statutory laws are sufficient to deal with issues of sexual violence against men, transgender persons and non-binary individuals

Statutory remedies for sexual violence against men, trans persons and non-binary individuals was earlier governed by Section 377 IPC, and for sexual abuse of trans persons, under Section 18 of the TPA. While the IPC provision has been deleted in the BNS, it is important analyse the differential treatment towards victims of sexual violence other than females under the criminal justice system. This could be best demonstrated by the following table:

TABLE 1

Relevant laws	63 (BNS) (Rape)	Section 18 Transgender
governing sexual		(Protection of Persons) Act
assault		(Sexual Abuse)
Victims/Perpetrators	Only females including	Victims can only be trans-
	trans-females <sup>16</sup> can be	persons while Perpetrators
	victims while only males	can be any person (TPA,
	including trans-males can be	Section 2(k)).
	perpetrators. <sup>17</sup>	
Cognizable/Non-	Cognizable	Non-cognizable
Cognizable <sup>18</sup>		
Bailable/Non-Bailable	Non-Bailable	Bailable
Punishment	Rigorous imprisonment for	Simple imprisonment for
	minimum 10 years, may	minimum 6 months, may
	extend to imprisonment for	extend up to 2 years, along
	life or even death, along with	with a fine.
	a fine.	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Though there exist civil and criminal redressal mechanisms for malicious prosecutions in India, these are rarely availed by victims and courts. See Law Commission of India, 2018 Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Trans-females and Trans-males refer to individuals who identity themselves with a gender different from what they were assigned at birth whether they have undergone sex reassignment surgery, hormone therapy, laser therapy or such therapy or not as per section 2(k) of the TPA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Whether trans-females can be covered by the laws enacted for women remains contested. This is because some high courts in India have held that a trans woman can be considered as a woman while others have decided against so. In the absence of an authoritative decision of the Supreme Court or a legislative enactment clarifying the same, this issue remains unresolved.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> A cognizable offence in the Indian criminal justice system refers to offences where a police officer is authorized to arrest the accused and investigate the offence without the permission of the magistrate.

Triable by what court	Court of Sessions	Magistrate of any class
Plea-Bargaining	Not allowed	Permissible
Summary Trial	Not possible	Possible

Table 1. Comparative Treatment Table of Rape and Sexual Abuse in Indian Laws.

The above table demonstrates the disproportionate treatment given to non-female victims of sexual violence. Lenient sentencing and reduced powers of the police reflects the legislative opinion on sexual violence towards non-female victims. These disparities beg the question of why such differential treatment persists under the law.

Criminal law, prior to independence, was used primarily to enforce societal morality through punishment. This explains why Section 377 used to be termed as an offence 'against the order of nature' since oral or anal sex does not lead to procreation (Pande 2022, 68-71). With the advancement of criminal law scholarship, this thought process has changed to using the law to prevent harm to others. However, scholars continue to assert that judicial inquiries in trials of sexual offence still function keeping in mind considerations of public morality, decency and societal attitudes towards sex (Garg 2019, Kulshreshtha 2023, 2024). Instances like *Raghavji* (2023), involving rape of an adult man or the unfortunate comments made by a district judge about transgender persons while denying bail (*Jyoti Manjappa Prasadavi* 2024) even post *NALSA* and *Navtej* corroborate the same. Therefore, the author believes that a revision in the definition of rape would send the right message to judicial and police officers that legislators as representatives of the public, view non-heteronormative sexuality as natural and positive.

The author conducted an analysis of adult male complainants under the erstwhile Section 377 IPC prior to *Navtej*. Only seven cases of adult male complainants were noted during this analysis (1947-2018). As discussed previously, in *Raghavji*, despite an apparent disproportionate power differential between the accused and the complainant, the complainant was dismissed, based on stereotypes regarding male victims. However, in *Raunak Hajari* (2023) case, a similar power differential was acknowledged, and the accused's request for quashing the complaint was dismissed. Notably, in cases where the complainant was a minor boy, or an adult victim involving multiple assailants, courts have been more willing to accept their vulnerability to sexual violence (*Ram Bhagat Ram* 2009, *Surendra* 2016, *Ramchandra* 2019, *Vijay* 2019, *Ajay Sahu* 2023, *Nirmal Kumar Dey* 2023, *Sabuddin* 2023, *Vikas Sharma* 2024). Police officials continue to invoke this provision in cases of child sexual abuse despite there being a specific law for the same (POCSO). Let us now assess the use of this provision by police officers in practice.

Danish Sheikh (2017) argues that the language used in first information reports filed by police officers in cases of Section 377 refers to the offending act as morally dubious, rather than one involving a lack of consent. While Danish's argument predates *Navtej*, his analysis remains relevant even today. This is particularly noticeable when the offence is combined with kidnapping and other crimes used by families to separate lesbian couples (Arasu and Thangarajah 2012, Shukla 2020, Banerjie 2022). Scholars have noted that misuse of criminal law as a tool to regulate an adult woman's sexuality has been a time-tested practice by police officers (Brereton 2017, Vishwanath 2018, 2022, Garg 2019, Shukla 2020). However, post Navtej, many high courts have come in support of the rights of adult persons to choose their partners in same-sex relationships when facing

threats of violence and separation from their families (*Sreeja S.* 2018, *Chinmayee Jena* 2020, *S. Sushma* 2021). Framing a sexual violation law that focuses on harm based on bodily integrity and sexual autonomy instead would help recognise the legitimacy and existence of queer and non-binary personhood in India.

It is also important to assess whether the criminal justice machinery envisions situations where it would have to deal with non-female victims of sexual violence. In 2016, the LNJN National Institute of Criminology and Forensic Science released a forensic guide for crime investigators as a standard operating guide. The guide contained a chapter for police officers on dealing with victims of sexual offences, but only rape victims under section 376 (punishment for rape) (Section 64 BNS) and child victims. Any reference to male, trans person and non-binary victims of sexual violence was completely missed out. Such omission in a guide published by a government research institute reflects their attitudes and beliefs regarding such victims.

In 2014, the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India, published guidelines for medico-legal care for survivors/victims of sexual violence. These guidelines acknowledge male, trans persons, non-binary and queer persons as potential victims of sexual violence and provide instructions on dealing with them sensitively. However, the annexure referring to legal definitions of sexual violence did not mention the erstwhile Section 377. In Kerala, a male doctor filed a writ petition in the High Court challenging the state protocol of having only gynaecologists, preferably women, for examining victims of sexual violence (*Dr Laxmy Rajamohan*, 2024). While the court noted that the policy is in place to assist female victims who tend to be majority of these victims, it also conceded that men, trans and non-binary persons too can be victims of sexual violence. These instances suggest that the state and the criminal justice machinery largely work with the perception of near impossibility of the existence of non-female victims of sexual violence, an issue noticed earlier, particularly in the case of treatment of trans individuals in prison (Ganesan and Dadoo 2020, Shantha 2021, Mahaseth and Jain 2023).

A punishment of a minimum of 6 months to a maximum of 2 years under section 18 of the TPA is inconsistent with the treatment of men accused of rape of females under section 63 BNS. The act does not define what constitutes sexual abuse. The Supreme Court, in *Gaurav Jain v Union of India* (1997), regarding the POCSO Act, held that any injury to private organs would amount to sexual abuse, where the word 'abuse' is to be given a wide meaning. In the absence of a specific definition which would provide for graver punishment for aggravated acts of violence, the existing term of sexual abuse leaves much to be desired. This disproportionate treatment meted out to non-female victims of sexual violence sends the message in society that their victimisation is less important.

Scholars argue that the lack of reference towards non-female victims of sexual violence is based on the existing cultural and institutional setup of society, where family structure bases itself on a cisgender heterosexual understanding of an individual's sexuality. The Supreme Court in *Supriyo*, dismissed the idea of recognition of right to marry of non-

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The Institute is a research and training institute established under the Bureau of Police Research and Development, Ministry of Home Affairs, Government of India in 1972. It conducts degrees in criminology and forensic sciences and provides training to law enforcement officers.

heterosexual couples. Therefore prior to fully considering the victimhood of non-female victims of sexual violence, there is a need to embrace personhood of non-binary and trans individuals as natural and part of Indian society. For example, Sanyal and Ghosh (2022) have argued for the removal of consummation as a ground for annulment of marriage in Indian family laws. They argue that the existing provisions are based on heteronormative understanding of sexuality and hinder the recognition of non-normative forms of marriages, thereby blurring the line between marital rape and marital sexuality and essentialising sex within marriage.

Akshat Agarwal (2023) argues that the legal recognition of LGBT+ couples would positively affect Indian family laws by generating arguments for expanding recognition of diverse families. Similar themes can be noticed in the epistolary exchange of two scholars discussing marriage equality in the aftermath of the *Supriyo* decision (Sheikh and Samuel 2024). Mandal (2024) contends that the focus of the Indian feminist movement is on situating the issue of domestic violence solely in a domestic sphere in heteronormative relationships. This diminishes the focus on domestic violence in queer relationships such as lesbian women and overall holds back the road to recognition of non-heteronormative families (Ghosh and Sanyal 2024). Gerber *et al.* (2021) contends that it is important to move the conversation beyond marriage equality and decriminalization of homosexuality on an international scale for complete gender inclusivity in society.

Another issue is the conflation of intersex personhood with trans personhood (Kothari et al. 2020). There is a need to sensitise members of the criminal justice machinery and legislators regarding the presence of personhood beyond the traditionally conceived biological essentialism. While a review petition for *Supriyo* is pending before the Supreme Court, recognition of marriage equality for LGBTQ+ couples would be a positive step towards the recognition of full personhood in society, and as possible victims of sexual violence. Zaid Baset (2012, 99-104) in his analysis of the *Naz Foundation* decision argues that using the lens of privacy for asserting queer rights suggests that expression of this form of sexuality should be done in private, which is its default place, thereby suggesting that any non-heteronormative form of sexuality is to be kept hidden from public eyes. From the above analysis, it seems evident that the existing statutory provisions are not adequate to deal with the sexual victimisation of non-female victims. Let us now assess the previous attempts by the government and individuals to frame gender neutral rape laws in India.

## 3. An overview of previous attempts to enact a gender-neutral rape law in India

The possibility of framing a gender-neutral rape law was first discussed in  $Sudesh\ Jhaku\ v\ KC\ Jhaku\ (1996)$ . This was a case of sexual assault of a girl by her father. The complainant's lawyer pleaded for an interpretation for an expanded definition of rape beyond peno-vaginal interpretation. However, in the context of expanding the definition of rape, the court went beyond the scope of the case to also suggest framing a gender-neutral law that would help avoid instances where an accused would escape culpability due to such restricted definition. This marked the first judicial discussion on gender neutrality in rape laws.

In 1996, a Non-Governmental Organisation (NGO), Sakshi, working for the welfare, and dignity of women, filed a public interest litigation (PIL) in the Supreme Court, appealing for the recognition of oral, anal, and other violations within the definition of rape (*Sakshi* 1996). Acknowledging the inadequacy of the current legal framework to deal with sexual abuse of children, the court directed the Law Commission of India to submit a report on the reformation of rape laws. The Law Commission (2000; para 3.1), recommended including non-penetrative and penetrative acts concerning non-vaginal orifices within the definition of rape, while also advocating for a gender-neutral definition, in-line with global trends. Additionally, it suggested renaming rape to sexual assault to destigmatise the offence.

Subsequently, the Indian government invited consultations from NGOWR (Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2001; Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2002 (Redrafted by All India Women's Democratic Alliance); Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2005 (AIWDA)) and the National Commission for Women (NCW) on the proposed changes. Multiple discussions took place between the NGOWR, and documented by Partners for Law in Development (PLD), a legal resource group (Partners for Law in Development 2010a, 2010b). Three distinct positions emerged. Firstly, the NGOWR vehemently opposed gender neutrality in rape laws, fearing it would disproportionately impact female rape victims negatively (PLD 2010a, 2010b, 2, 4, 6, 10-11). Secondly, they advocated enacting a separate provision for governing same-sex violence; but rejected any law recognising females as perpetrators (PLD response to Criminal Law Amendment Bill 2010, 10-14). Thirdly, they emphasised the need for a separate gender-neutral law for governing sexual abuse of children (*ibid.*).

In May 2012, the government passed the Protection of Children from Sexual Offences Act, 2012 (POCSO), a dedicated gender-neutral law for punishing child sexual offenders with graver punishments. However, laws regarding adult rape victims remained largely unchanged until the Nirbhaya case in December 2012 (Mukesh 2017). In December 2012, a Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2012 was introduced in the Parliament, which recommended renaming the offence of rape as sexual assault and making it genderneutral, aligning with 172<sup>nd</sup> Law Commission report's suggestions. In 2013, after largescale protests in the aftermath of the horrific gang rape and subsequent death of a woman, the government established the JS Verma committee (2013) to recommend changes in law, procedure and evidence, which recommended sweeping changes in sexual violence, procedural and evidentiary laws to provide an empathetic and traumafree experience to sexual violence victims. It recommended retaining the offence of rape rather than renaming the offence to 'sexual assault', due to the moral opprobrium associated with that offence by Indian society. Using the generic crime of sexual assault can signal a dilution of political and social commitment dedicated to promoting women's right to dignity, agency and autonomy (Verma 2013, 67). Therefore, the committee recommended retaining the offence of rape where women would be victims and men would be the perpetrators. However, the committee also acknowledged the possibility of sexual assault of men and rape of homosexuals, transgender and transexuals and recommended that the provisions of the law should be cognizant of the same (Verma 2013, 416, para 3). How the law will take cognizance of the same remained unanswered by the committee.

In March 2013, a department related parliament standing committee on home affairs (DRPSCHA, 2012) submitted its report on the Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2012. After undertaking public consultations and the recommendation of the Verma Committee report, the parliament's standing committee recommended a new gender-neutral offence of sexual assault to replace the offence of rape.<sup>20</sup> The committee disregarded the Verma (2013) committee suggestion of keeping rape as a separate offence as they believed that the purpose of the amendment was to replace the offence of rape with sexual assault. The committee recommended that the victim for the offence of sexual assault and rape be made gender neutral while the perpetrator remain a man. However, the Bill and the committee's recommendations received widespread opposition from NGOWR and concerned individuals.<sup>21</sup> As a result, the government withdrew the bill, and enacted a new act which retained rape as a gender specific offence, defined new aggravated forms of rape, and provided stricter punishments for all offences against women. Additionally, it introduced offences of stalking, voyeurism and sexual harassment, but limiting perpetrators to men and victims to women (Criminal Law Amendment Act, 2013 (13 of 2013)). Thus, a major attempt to introduce gender neutrality in sexual offences was defeated due to large-scale opposition.<sup>22</sup> Subsequently, several individuals filed PILs or special leave petitions in constitutional courts challenging the discriminatory treatment towards men and non-binary individuals under existing sexual violence laws, without much progress.

In 2018, Rishi Malhotra, a practicing lawyer, filed a PIL in the Supreme Court, arguing that sexual violence laws discriminate against men, violating their right to equality under Articles 14 and 15 of the constitution (HT Correspondent 2018). The PIL was dismissed as 'imaginative' and on grounds that amending laws is the parliament's job (Livelaw News Network 2018). The court stated that while both men and women can be perpetrators of gender-based crimes, it could not direct the government to collect data regarding female sexual offenders. Both these observations contradict established judicial precedents. The Supreme Court itself, in *Kailash Chand Sharma v Union of India* (2002, 584-586) held that any form of positive discrimination in favour of a particular group for the purposes of equality can only be provided based on empirical studies or surveys, and the state should endeavour to collect relevant data before determining if positive discrimination is needed. Therefore, when the court on its own concedes that women can be perpetrators of gender-based crimes, then it should have directed the government to conduct a survey rather than disregarding its own jurisprudence in Kailash Chand Sharma.

As far as the inability of amending laws is concerned, the Supreme Court in cases such as *DK Basu* (1997) and *Vishakha* (1997) have struck down unconstitutional laws and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Department-Related Parliamentary Standing Committee on Home Affairs, Rajya Sabha, One Hundred and Sixty Seventh Report on the Criminal Law (Amendment) Bill, 2012, Clause 2.5.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Press Release of Demand by Women's groups and individuals for urgent reform of law relating to sexual assault, and seeking accountability of NCW- Petition signed by 92 organizations and 546 individuals (2012); Press Release for President urged not to sign the Ordinance by Women's Organizations (2013); Press Release by NGOs and individuals on the Parliamentary Standing Committee overlooking the JVC Report on rape law reforms (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Certain groups felt betrayed that issues of sexual violence towards transgender and non-binary persons were ignored during the deliberations and enactment of the Criminal Law Amendment Act, 2013 by the NGOWR. See Mundkur and Narrain (2013).

implemented new measures even in the absence of statutory provisions. The issue of limitations of the Supreme Court's power to legislate laws or influence government action was specifically discussed in *Anoop Barnwal* (2023). In this case, public interest litigators sought reform in the appointment process of union election commissioners to preserve their independence. The government urged the court to follow strict separation of powers and leave the issue to be settled by parliamentary debate. However, the Supreme Court dismissed this argument by stating that 'the theory that the court cannot or do not make laws is a myth which has been busted a long ago'.

The Indian Supreme Court also has a rich tradition of striking down personal laws (Shayara Bano 2017), expanding the benefits of under inclusionary laws (DS Nakara 1983) or determining what constitutes a fundamental right (KS Puttaswamy 2017) for upholding constitutionality of legislated laws. Therefore, dismissing the PIL seems inconsistent with judicial precedents. An argument advanced by scholars such as Sengupta (2025), in the context of including LGBTQIA+ persons within the purview of 'aggrieved' under the ambit of the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 and Malhotra and Sulakshya (2023) in the context of the Supriyo decision. The Court could very well direct the government to reform the existing gender specific rape laws, or even strike down the existing rape law as gender discriminatory and under-inclusive. Striking down the law is not a preferable option, an opinion shared by scholars based on precedents in other common law jurisdictions. (Bhardwaj 2023, Sebastian 2023). Rather, expanding the scope of section 377 IPC would have been a more realistic solution. However, given the absence of this section equivalent in the new penal code, it would be best to enact a new gender inclusive sexual assault offence instead.

Advocate Sanjjiv Kkumaar (2018) challenged the constitutionality of gender-specific rape law in India, through another PIL. The Delhi High Court sought the government's response which submitted that most perpetrators of crimes against women are men; therefore, rape laws should be kept gender specific, following consultations with various stakeholders including the NGOWR. Further, globally most sexual offences are committed by men against women; therefore, the government retained gender-specific laws. However, such reasoning is also in dissonance with global trends where sexual violence laws are moving towards providing recognition to non-female victims. Senior advocate and Rajya Sabha (Upper House of the parliament) member, KTS Tulsi, made a few attempts to bring gender neutrality in sexual crimes; first through a PIL in 2018 (Criminal Justice Society of India), followed by a private members bill in 2019 (Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2019 (16 of 2019)). The PIL was dismissed on grounds that amending legislation was within the domain of the legislature whereas the bill lapsed without a discussion in the parliament. The widescale opposition to the enactment of gender neutrality from NGOWR and the reluctance from the government to make changes to the current law explains the lack of urgency in protecting men, trans and nonbinary persons from sexual violence under the rape laws.

Some interesting observations can be made regarding the role of gender in the new provisions while comparing the new penal code, BNS and the old penal code, IPC. The BNS includes transgender persons within defined genders under Section 2(9), aligning with Section 2(k) of the TPA, 2019. The offences of Enticement or Detainment or taking

away with criminal intent of a married woman (Section 84), Assault or use of criminal force to woman with intent to disrobe (Section 76) and Voyeurism (Section 77) have been defined in gender inclusive terms regarding perpetrators. However, Section 377 of the IPC, which criminalised non-consensual sexual penetration amongst adults is missing from the BNS, despite recommendation from the parliamentary committee to the government to retain it (BNS report, Paras 1.16-1.17) and experts advocating for a provision for criminalising sexual assault towards non-female victims (Dissent Note (n 3)). Further, the definition of rape under Section 63 does not include trans-women.

Notably, the IPC defined rape and other sexual offences under 'Sexual Offences' whereas the BNS defines them under 'Offences against woman and child.' This reflects the government's outlook that it refuses to even consider the possibility of male, trans and non-binary individuals as rape victims and women as perpetrators. It is also not clear whether a trans woman can be treated as a woman for women specific offences and protective laws such as domestic violence, and dowry harassment. While numerous high courts have affirmed that trans woman is a woman for the purposes of law (*Ganga Kumari*, 2017; *Anamika*, 2018; *Ms X*, 2019; *Anjali Guru Sanjana Jaan*, 2021; *Vithal Manik Khatri*, 2021), some have decided against it (*Bhupesh Thakur* 2024). Thus, a golden opportunity to introduce gender inclusivity in the sexual offences law was missed. Hopefully, future legislators or the Supreme Court would reconsider their stance on this issue.

#### 4. Conclusion

Over the years, many attempts to frame a gender-inclusive rape law in India have been made based on multiple arguments. Four primary arguments have been made, neither of which holds sufficient weight to make a convincing case for having a gendered law on rape in India, as analysed above. It does make sense to frame laws which treat sexual victimisation of all individuals equally. Even if laws catering to specific genders have been made in other jurisdictions, long-standing myths and beliefs tend to hurt such victims from seeking justice and legal recourse. A combined effort of reforming the law while engaging in large-scale sensitization of the entire criminal justice machinery would be a step in the right direction. However, to clarify, policies could be made to largely focus on female victims of rape, who remain the majority of sexual assault victims in Indian society today.

This is because the Indian constitution allows the state to deliver justice in a piece meal fashion and prioritise more vulnerable victims over others. Therefore, the state could devote more resources to female victims of sexual violence till statistical data justifies a change in this approach. What is impermissible is complete denial of the victimhood of non-female victims of sexual violence under the ambit of the existing law which has been aggravated post the removal of Section 377 in the new penal code. Oppression is not a competition and should not be treated as such. Every person irrespective of their gender and sexuality deserves protection from sexual violence and development of a hierarchy of victims should be resisted.

#### References

- African Rights, 1995. *Rwanda-Not so innocent: when women become killers*. London: African Rights, 21-39.
- Agarwal, A., 2023. LGBT+ rights claims for marriage equality and the possibilities of transforming Indian family law. *International Journal of Constitutional Law* [online], 21(4), 1116. <u>Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/icon/moad096</u>
- Agnes, F., 2002. Law, Ideology and Female Sexuality: Gender Neutrality in Rape Law. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 37(9), 844, 846. Available at: <a href="https://www.epw.in/journal/2002/09/perspectives/law-ideology-and-female-sexuality.html">https://www.epw.in/journal/2002/09/perspectives/law-ideology-and-female-sexuality.html</a>
- Agnes, F., 2015. Section 498A, marital rape and adverse propaganda. *Economic and Political Weekly* [online], 50(23), 12. <u>Available at:</u>
  <a href="https://www.epw.in/journal/2015/23/commentary/section-498a-marital-rape-and-adverse-propaganda.html">https://www.epw.in/journal/2015/23/commentary/section-498a-marital-rape-and-adverse-propaganda.html</a>
- Al Baset, Z., 2012. Section 377 and the Myth of Heterosexuality. *Jindal Global Law Review* [online], 4(1), 89, 99-104. <u>Available at: https://completejusticepodcast.s3.ap-south-1.amazonaws.com/Zaid+Al+Baset+-+Section+377+and+the+Myth+of+Heterosexuality+.pdf</u>
- Annavarapu, S., 2013. Hetero-normativity and Rape: Mapping the Construction of Gender and Sexuality in the Rape Legislations in India. *International Journal of Criminal Justice Sciences* [online], 8(2), 248, 260. <u>Available at:</u> <a href="https://ijcjs.com/article-detail.php?id=138">https://ijcjs.com/article-detail.php?id=138</a>
- Arasu, P., and Thangarajah, P., 2012. Queer Woman and Habeas Corpus in India. *Indian Journal of Gender Studies* [online], 19(3), 413. <u>Available at:</u> <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/097152151201900304">https://doi.org/10.1177/097152151201900304</a>
- Baaz, M.E., and Stern, M., 2013. *Sexual Violence as a weapon of war?* [online] London: Zed Books, 4. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.5040/9781350222557">https://doi.org/10.5040/9781350222557</a>
- Banerjie, A., 2022. Queer love and litigation in India: Sreeja S. v The Commissioner of Police, Thiruvananthapuram and Others, Writ Petition (Criminal) 372 of 2018, Kerala HC. *Jindal Global Law Review* [online], 13, 155. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s41020-022-00168-7">https://doi.org/10.1007/s41020-022-00168-7</a>
- Berns, N., 2001. Degendering the Problem and Gendering the Blame: Political Discourse on Women and Violence. *Gender and Society* [online], 15(2), 262, 279. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/089124301015002006">https://doi.org/10.1177/089124301015002006</a>
- Bhardwaj, S., 2023. The Citizenship Amendment Act, Marital Rape and the Facade of Underinclusion. *Journal of National Law University Delhi*, 9, 42.
- Bhat, M.N., 2022. *Queer Crimes & Criminal Justice* [online]. London: Routledge. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003297956">https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003297956</a>
- Boyle, C., 1985. Sexual Assault and the Feminist Judge. *Canadian Journal of Women and the Law* [online], 1, 93, 104. Available at:

- https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/cajwol1&div=12 &id=&page=
- Brereton, Z., 2017. Perpetuating myths of women as false complainants in rape cases in India: culture V The law. *International Journal of Comparative and Applied Criminal Justice* [online], 41(1-2), 41-62. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01924036.2016.1233442">https://doi.org/10.1080/01924036.2016.1233442</a>
- Brison, S., 2002. *Aftermath: Violence and the Remaking of a Self.* Princeton University Press, 98.
- Brownmiller, S., 1975. *Against our will: Men, Women and Rape*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 15.
- Bullock, C., and Beckson, M., 2011. Male Victims of Sexual Assault. *The Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law* [online], 39, 197. Available at: <a href="https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21653264/">https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21653264/</a>
- Butler, J., 1993. Bodies That Matter: On the Discursive Limits of Sex. London: Routledge.
- Centre for Civil Society, 2013. *A Case for Gender Neutral Rape Laws in India. CCS Working Paper #286* [online]. July. Available at:

  <a href="https://ccsinternship.files.wordpress.com/2013/05/286">https://ccsinternship.files.wordpress.com/2013/05/286</a> case-for-gender-neutral-rape-laws-in-india jaai-vipra.pdf</a>
- Chakrapani, V., et al., 2007. Structural Violence Against Kothi–Identified Men Who Have Sex with Men in Chennai, India: A Qualitative Investigation. *AIDS: Education and Prevention* [online], 19(4). Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1521/aeap.2007.19.4.346">https://doi.org/10.1521/aeap.2007.19.4.346</a>
- Chatterjee, S., and Srivastava, P., 2021. Is sexual harassment of men at workplaces a myth or reality? *Chhattisgarh Law Journal*, 7(1), 34.
- Commonwealth Human Rights Initiative, 2020. Lost Identity: Transgender Persons in Indian Prisons [online]. 27 November. Available at:
  <a href="https://www.humanrightsinitiative.org/publication/lost-identity-transgender-persons-in-indian-prisons">https://www.humanrightsinitiative.org/publication/lost-identity-transgender-persons-in-indian-prisons</a>
- Connell, R., 2005. *Masculinities*. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Berkeley/Los Angeles: University of California Press.
- Dam, S., 2023. Marriage Equality and Judicial Craft in India: New Approaches to Constitutional Validity? *Public Law Review* [online], 34(4). Available at: <a href="https://works.bepress.com/shubhankar\_dam/73/">https://works.bepress.com/shubhankar\_dam/73/</a>
- Dave, A., et al., 2017. In search of justice and care: how women survivors of violence navigate the Indian criminal justice system. *Journal of Gender Based Violence* [online], 1(1), 79, 87-88. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1332/239868017X14900133026601">https://doi.org/10.1332/239868017X14900133026601</a>
- Department-Related Parliamentary Standing Committee on Home Affairs, Rajya Sabha, 2012. One Hundred and Sixty Seventh Report on the Criminal Law (Amendment) Bill, Clause 2.5.2. [DRPSCHA] (online). Available at:

- https://prsindia.org/files/bills acts/bills parliament/2012/SCR Criminal Law Bill .pdf
- Department-Related Parliamentary Standing Committee on Home Affairs, 2023. Seventeenth Lok Sabha, 'Report on the Bharatiya Nyaya Sanhita, 2023', Two Hundred and Forty Sixth Report (BNS report) [online]. Available at: https://sansad.in/getFile/rsnew/Committee\_site/Committee\_File/ReportFile/15/18 8/246\_2023\_12\_15.pdf?source=rajyasabha
- Deshpande, S., 2019. Sociocultural and Legal Aspects of Violence Against Men. *Journal of Psychosexual Health* [online], 1(3-4), 246, 248. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/2631831819894176">https://doi.org/10.1177/2631831819894176</a>
- Du Toit, L. and le Roux, E., 2021. A feminist reflection on male victims of conflict-related sexual violence. *European Journal of Women's Studies* [online], 28(2), 115. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506820904982">https://doi.org/10.1177/1350506820904982</a>
- Dworkin, A., 1987. Intercourse. New York: Free Press, 64.
- Firstpost, 2017, Accused in Pune Gangrape Case Get Bail: Govt, Courts Aren't Doing Enough for Justice for Transgenders. *Firstpost* [online], 19 August. Available at: <a href="https://www.firstpost.com/india/accused-in-pune-gangrape-case-get-bail-govt-courts-arent-doing-enough-for-justice-for-transgenders-3948457.html">https://www.firstpost.com/india/accused-in-pune-gangrape-case-get-bail-govt-courts-arent-doing-enough-for-justice-for-transgenders-3948457.html</a>
- Fruchs, S., 2004. Male Sexual Assault-Issues of Arousal and Consent. *Cleveland State Law Review* [online], 51(1), 93. Available at: <a href="https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/clevstlrev/vol51/iss1/5/">https://engagedscholarship.csuohio.edu/clevstlrev/vol51/iss1/5/</a>
- Ganesan, D., and Dadoo, S., 2020. Confinement at the Margins: Preliminary Notes on Transgender Prisoners in India. *NUJS Law Review* [online], 13(3), 508. Available at: <a href="https://nujslawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/13-3-Ganesan-Dadoo-Confinement-at-the-Margins.pdf">https://nujslawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/13-3-Ganesan-Dadoo-Confinement-at-the-Margins.pdf</a>
- Garg, A., 2019. Consent, Conjugality and Crime: Hegemonic Constructions of Rape Laws in India. *Social & Legal Studies* [online], 28(6), 737. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0964663918808069">https://doi.org/10.1177/0964663918808069</a>
- Gear, S., and Ngubeni, K., 2002. *Daai Ding- Sex, Sexual Violence and Coercion in Men's Prisons* [online]. Research paper written for the Centre for the Study of Violence and Reconciliation. Available at: <a href="https://www.csvr.org.za/docs/correctional/daaidingsex.pdf">https://www.csvr.org.za/docs/correctional/daaidingsex.pdf</a>
- Gerber, P., et al., 2021. Protecting the rights of LGBTIQ people around the world:

  Beyond marriage equality and the decriminalisation of homosexuality. *Alternative Law Journal* [online], 46(1). Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1037969X20986658">https://doi.org/10.1177/1037969X20986658</a>
- Ghosh, A., and Sanyal, D., 2019. How Can Families be Imagined Beyond Kinship and Marriage? *Economic and Political Weekly (Engage)* [online], 54(45). Available at: <a href="https://www.epw.in/engage/article/how-can-families-be-imagined-beyond-kinship-and-marriage">https://www.epw.in/engage/article/how-can-families-be-imagined-beyond-kinship-and-marriage</a>
- Ghosh, A., and Sanyal, D., 2024. Marital Status Discrimination in India: Prospects and Possibilities. *In:* A. Agrawal, ed., *Family Studies* [online]. Oxford University Press, 159-186. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/9780198930723.003.0008">https://doi.org/10.1093/9780198930723.003.0008</a>

- Gotell, L., 2010. Canadian sexual assault law: Neo-liberalism and the erosion of feminist-inspired law reforms. *In*: C. McGlynn and V. Munro, eds., *Rethinking Rape Law: International and Comparative Perspectives*. London: Routledge, 209-210.
- Graham, R., 2006. Male Rape and the careful construction of the male victim. *Social & Legal Studies* [online], 15(2), 187. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0964663906063571">https://doi.org/10.1177/0964663906063571</a>
- Halley, J. 2006. *Split Decisions: How and Why to Take a Break from Feminism*. Princeton University Press, 31-33.
- Hampton, J., 1999. Defining Wrong and Defining Rape. *In*: K. Keith Burgess-Jackson, ed., *A Most Detestable Crime: New Philosophical Essays on Rape* [online]. Oxford University Press, 135. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780195120752.003.0007">https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780195120752.003.0007</a>
- Hindes, S., 2022. It's time to re-think the politicisation of violence against women. *Umbrella* [online], 19 May. Available at:

  <a href="https://umbrellanews.com.au/featured/2022/05/its-time-to-re-think-the-politicisation-of-violence-against-women/">https://umbrellanews.com.au/featured/2022/05/its-time-to-re-think-the-politicisation-of-violence-against-women/</a>
- HT Correspondent, 2018. PIL in Supreme Court to declare rape, sexual assault gender-neutral. *Hindustan Times* [online], 12 January. Available at:

  <a href="https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/pil-in-supreme-court-to-declare-rape-sexual-assault-gender-neutral/story-itw7OEbHC9T3X0cCtsOOaP.html">https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/pil-in-supreme-court-to-declare-rape-sexual-assault-gender-neutral/story-itw7OEbHC9T3X0cCtsOOaP.html</a>
- International Commission of Jurists (ICJ), 2019. *Living with Dignity: Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity-Based Human Rights Violations in Housing, Work, and Public Spaces in India* [online]. June. Geneva. Available at: <a href="https://www.icj.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/India-Living-with-dignity-Publications-Reports-thematic-report-2019-ENG.pdf">https://www.icj.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/India-Living-with-dignity-Publications-Reports-thematic-report-2019-ENG.pdf</a>
- Ison, J., 2019. It's Not Just Men and Women: LGBTQIA People and #MeToo. *In*: B. Fileborn and R. Loney-Howes, eds., #MeToo and the Politics of Social Change [online]. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15213-0">https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15213-0</a> 10
- Justice Verma Committee, 2013. Justice Verma Committee Report on Amendments to

  Criminal Law [online]. 23 January. Available at:

  <a href="https://adrindia.org/sites/default/files/Justice">https://adrindia.org/sites/default/files/Justice</a> Verma Amendmenttocriminallaw

  Jan2013.pdf
- Kaur, N., and Byard, R., 2022. Issues and problems involving acid attacks against male victims in India. *Medicine, Science and the Law* [online], 63(3), 4. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/00258024221134961">https://doi.org/10.1177/00258024221134961</a>
- Kodamaya, R., and Sato, F., 2022. Taking Male Victims Seriously: toward a Deeper Understanding of the Interrelations between Wartime Sexual Violence and Patriarchy. *Hitotsubashi Journal of Social Studies* [online], 53, 13-15. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15057/hjss.2021001
- Kothari, J., Balu, K., and Sarma, R, 2020. *Beyond the Binary: Advocating Legal Recognition for Intersex Persons in India* [online]. Policy brief. Bangalore: CLPR and Solidarity

- Foundation. Available at: <a href="https://clpr.org.in/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/CLPR">https://clpr.org.in/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/CLPR</a> PolicyBrief 2.pdf
- Krug, E.E., et al., eds., 2002. World Report on Violence and Health [online]. Geneva: World Health Organization (WHO), 87–113. Available at:

  <a href="https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/42495/9241545615">https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/42495/9241545615</a> eng.pdf;jsessionid=

  <a href="https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/42495/9241545615">1ECA5CD8D0FA782EF31A77E5ECD6EB00?sequence=1</a>
- Kulshreshtha, N., 2019. *Ought the Rape/Sexual Assault Law in India be Gender-Neutral? Queen Mary Law Research Paper* [online]. Available at:

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3704050">https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3704050</a>
- Kulshreshtha, N., 2020. An Assessment of Policing Behavior with regard to offences against women in India. *In:* D. Ukey *et al.*, eds., *Revisiting Reforms in Criminal Justice System in India* [online]. Bangalore: Thomson Reuters. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3706034">https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3706034</a>
- Kulshreshtha, N., 2023. A critical analysis of the standard of consent of rape law in India. *Oñati Socio-Legal Series* [online], 13(4), 1428. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.35295/osls.iisl/0000-0000-1398">https://doi.org/10.35295/osls.iisl/0000-0000-1398</a>
- Kulshreshtha, N., 2024. Enacting a law on sexual assault using deceptive means in India. *Liverpool Law Review* [online], 45(2), 281. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10991-023-09357-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10991-023-09357-3</a>
- Kumar, J., 2024. A 20-Year-Old Went on a Grindr Date. Now He is Fighting a Court Case. *Decode* [online], 19 January. Available at: <a href="https://www.boomlive.in/decode/a-20-year-old-went-on-a-grindr-date-now-he-is-fighting-a-court-case-24154">https://www.boomlive.in/decode/a-20-year-old-went-on-a-grindr-date-now-he-is-fighting-a-court-case-24154</a>
- Law Commission of India, *Review of Rape Laws* (Law Com No 172, 2000) para 3.1. [online]. Available at: <a href="http://www.commonlii.org/in/other/lawreform/INLC/2000/2.html">http://www.commonlii.org/in/other/lawreform/INLC/2000/2.html</a>
- Law Commission of India, Wrongful Prosecution (Law Com No 277, 2018) [online].

  Available at:
  <a href="https://static.pib.gov.in/WriteReadData/userfiles/Report%20No.%20277%20Wrongful%20Prosecution.pdf">https://static.pib.gov.in/WriteReadData/userfiles/Report%20No.%20277%20Wrongful%20Prosecution.pdf</a>
- Levin, R., and van Berlo, W., 2004. Sexual arousal and orgasm in subjects who experience forced or non-consensual sexual stimulation. *Journal of Clinical Forensic Science* [online], 11(2), 82. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcfm.2003.10.008
- Livelaw News Network, 2018. SC Dismisses PIL To Make Rape, Sexual Harassment, Stalking, Outraging Modesty Gender-Neutral. *LiveLawIn* [online], 2 February. Available at: <a href="https://www.livelaw.in/sc-dismisses-pil-make-rape-sexual-harassment-stalking-outraging-modesty-gender-neutral/">https://www.livelaw.in/sc-dismisses-pil-make-rape-sexual-harassment-stalking-outraging-modesty-gender-neutral/</a>
- MacKinnon, C., 1990. Liberalism and the Death of Feminism. In: D. Leidholdt and J.G. Raymond, eds, *The Sexual Liberals and the Attack on Feminism*, 3–13. New York: Pergamon Press.
- Mahaseth, H., and Jain, S., 2023. The Indian Prisons and The Search for Equality: The Problems Faced by Transgender Inmates. *Economic and Political Weekly (Engage)*

- [online], 58(1). Available at: <a href="https://www.epw.in/engage/article/indian-prisons-and-search-equality-problems-faced">https://www.epw.in/engage/article/indian-prisons-and-search-equality-problems-faced</a>
- Malhotra, P., and Sulakshya, P., 2023. The Mehndi of Judicial Review in Same-Sex Marriages: Infusing the Hues of Basic Structure on the Judiciary's Palms. *NUJS Law Review* [online], 16(4), 1. Available at: <a href="https://nujslawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/16.4-Pravertana-Prathan.pdf">https://nujslawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/16.4-Pravertana-Prathan.pdf</a>
- Mandal, S., 2023. The Supreme Court's Marriage Equality Verdict. *Economic and Political Weekly* [online], 58(43), 8. Available at:

  <a href="https://www.epw.in/journal/2023/43/comment/supreme-courts-marriage-equality-verdict.html">https://www.epw.in/journal/2023/43/comment/supreme-courts-marriage-equality-verdict.html</a>
- Mandal, S., 2024. Bringing Governance Home: Feminists, Domestic Violence, and the Paradoxes of Rights in India. *Feminist Legal Studies* [online], 32. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10691-023-09532-x">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10691-023-09532-x</a>
- May, L., and Strikwerda, R., 1994. Men in Groups: Collective Responsibility for Rape. *Hypatia* [online], 9(2). Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.1994.tb00437.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.1994.tb00437.x</a>
- McDonald, E., 2019. Gender neutrality and the definition of rape: Challenging the law's response to sexual violence and non-normative bodies. *University of Western Australia Law Review* [online], 45(2), 166, 191-192. Available at: <a href="https://classic.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/UWALawRw/2019/16.pdf">https://classic.austlii.edu.au/au/journals/UWALawRw/2019/16.pdf</a>
- McKeever, N., 2019. Can a woman rape a man and why does it matter?. *Criminal Law and Philosophy* [online], 13, 599. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11572-018-9485-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11572-018-9485-6</a>
- Mezey, G., and King, M., 1989. The effects of sexual assault on men. *Physiological Medicine* [online], 19(1), 205. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291700011168
- Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India, 2014. *Guidelines and protocols for medico-legal care for survivors/victims of sexual violence* [online]. Available at:

  <a href="https://health.mizoram.gov.in/uploads/attachments/2023/07/28651cad3c4af993562">https://health.mizoram.gov.in/uploads/attachments/2023/07/28651cad3c4af993562</a>

  10b9dcd0907b2/pages-189-guidelines-protocols-sexual-harassment.pdf
- Mortimer, S., Powell, A., and Sandy, L., 2019. Typical scripts and their silences: exploring myths about sexual violence and LGBTQ people from the perspectives of support workers. *Current Issues in Criminal Justice* [online], 31(3), 333. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2019.1639287">https://doi.org/10.1080/10345329.2019.1639287</a>
- Mulenhard, C., 1988. The Importance and Danger of Studying Sexually Aggressive Women. *In:* P. Anderson and C. Struckman-Johnson, eds., *Sexually Aggressive Women: Current Perspectives and Controversies*. New York: Guilford Press, 30.
- Mundkur, A., and Narrain, A., 2013. Betraying the third way. *The Hindu* [online], 13 June. Available at: <a href="https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/betraying-the-third-way/article4630899.ece">https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/betraying-the-third-way/article4630899.ece</a>

- Naffine, N. 1994a. Men's Needs and Women's Desires: Feminist Dilemmas about Rape Law Reform. Australian Feminist Law Journal [online], 3(1), 30-52. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13200968.1994.11077140">https://doi.org/10.1080/13200968.1994.11077140</a>
- Naffine, N., 1994b. Possession: Erotic Love in the Law of Rape. *Modern Law Review* [online], 57(1), 10-37. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2230.1994.tb01919.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2230.1994.tb01919.x</a>
- Naik, A.S., 2020. Me'n' too-Widening the Perspective of Sexual Abuse in India. *Lex Forti Legal Journal* [online], 1(6). Available at: <a href="https://lexforti.com/legal-news/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Men-and-too.pdf">https://lexforti.com/legal-news/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Men-and-too.pdf</a>
- Narrain, A., 2012. The Criminal Law (Amendment) Bill 2012: Sexual Assault as a Gender Neutral Offence. *Economic and Political Weekly* [online], 47(35). Available at: <a href="https://www.epw.in/journal/2012/35/web-exclusives/criminal-law-amendment-bill-2012-sexual-assault-gender-neutral">https://www.epw.in/journal/2012/35/web-exclusives/criminal-law-amendment-bill-2012-sexual-assault-gender-neutral</a>
- National Human Rights Commission, 2014. *Suicide in Prison*, 16-20; New Delhi. Available at: <a href="https://nhrc.nic.in/sites/default/files/SUICIDE%20IN%20PRISON%202014.pdf">https://nhrc.nic.in/sites/default/files/SUICIDE%20IN%20PRISON%202014.pdf</a>
- National Institute of Criminology and Forensic Science (LNJN), 2016. *A Forensic guide* for Crime Investigators [online]. Available at:

  <a href="https://jhpolice.gov.in/sites/default/files/documents-reports/jhpolice\_ebook\_a\_forensic\_guide\_for\_crime\_investigators.pdf">https://jhpolice\_ebook\_a\_forensic\_guide\_for\_crime\_investigators.pdf</a>
- Novotny, P., 2003. Rape Victims in the (Gender) Neutral Zone: The Assimilation of Resistance? *Seattle Journal for Social Justice* [online], 1(3), 744. Available at: <a href="https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol1/iss3/62/">https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol1/iss3/62/</a>
- O'Donohue, J., and Grey, R., 2022. Gender-Inclusivity in the International Criminal Court's First Reparations Proceedings. *In:* I. Rosenthal, V. Oosterveld and S. SáCouto, eds., *Gender and International Criminal Law.* Oxford University Press.
- Pande, B.B., 2022. *Criminal Law and Criminal Justice: Advanced Legal Writings*. Delhi: Eastern Book Company, 68-71.
- Parliamentary Standing Committee on Home Affairs on The Bharathya Nyaya Sanhita, 2023. *Dissent note by N R Elango to the report no.*246 *of the Department Related.*
- Parliamentary Standing Committee on Home Affairs, 2023. *Derek O'Brien Intervention* [online]. Available at:

  <a href="https://sansad.in/getFile/rsnew/Committee-site/Committee-File/ReportFile/15/18-8/248\_2023\_11\_16.pdf?source=rajyasabha">https://sansad.in/getFile/rsnew/Committee-site/Committee-File/ReportFile/15/18-8/248\_2023\_11\_16.pdf?source=rajyasabha</a>
- Parthasarthy, M., and Oza, R., 2020. Compromise in Rape Cases in Punjab and Haryana: Gendered Narratives Animating Judicial Decision-Making. *Journal of Indian Law and Society*, 11(1), 72. Available at: <a href="https://jilsblognujs.wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/malavika-parthasarathy-rupal-oza\_111.pdf">https://jilsblognujs.wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/malavika-parthasarathy-rupal-oza\_111.pdf</a>
- Partners for Law in Development, 2010a. *Background to discussions by women's groups on Sexual Assault amendments* (2001-2010) [online]. New Delhi, 29 March. Available

- at: <a href="http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/background-to-discussions-by-womens-groups-to-sexual-assault-amendments.pdf">http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/background-to-discussions-by-womens-groups-to-sexual-assault-amendments.pdf</a>?
- Partners for Law in Development, 2010b. Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2010: Response of Women's Groups to the Ministry of Women and Child Development [online]. New Delhi. Available at: <a href="http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/CLA-WOMENS-GROUPS-AND-OTHERS-NOTE-ON-SEXUAL-VIOLENCE.pdf">http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/CLA-WOMENS-GROUPS-AND-OTHERS-NOTE-ON-SEXUAL-VIOLENCE.pdf</a>?
- Pathak, H., 2016. Beyond the Binary: Rethinking Gender Neutrality in Indian Rape Law. *Asian Journal of Comparative Law* [online], 11(2), 367. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/asjcl.2016.8">https://doi.org/10.1017/asjcl.2016.8</a>
- People's Union for Civil Liberties (PUCL), 2001. *Human rights violations against sexuality minorities in India* [online]. Bangalore. Available at:

  <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20090725200649/http://www.altlawforum.org/PUBLICATIONS/PUCL%20REport%201">https://web.archive.org/web/20090725200649/http://www.altlawforum.org/PUBLICATIONS/PUCL%20REport%201</a>
- Pinch, A., *et al.*, 2022. Someone Else Is Behind the Screen: Visibility, Privacy, and Trust on Geosocial Networking Apps in India. *Social Media* + *Society* [online], 8(3), 1. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051221126076">https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051221126076</a>
- Press Release by NGOs and individuals on the Parliamentary Standing Committee overlooking the JVC Report on rape law reforms [online]. 6 March 2013. Available at: <a href="https://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/press-release-urging-government-to-make-gender-just-laws.pdf">https://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/press-release-urging-government-to-make-gender-just-laws.pdf</a>?
- Press Release for President urged not to sign the Ordinance by Women's Organizations [online], 2013. New Delhi, 2 February. Available at: <a href="http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/Press-Release-on-Criminal-Law-Ordinance-2013.pdf">http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/Press-Release-on-Criminal-Law-Ordinance-2013.pdf</a>?
- Press Release of Demand by Women's groups and individuals for urgent reform of law relating to sexual assault, and seeking accountability of NCW, 2012. *Petition signed by 92 organizations and 546 individuals* [online]. 23 July 2012. Available at: <a href="http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/press-release-on-clab-20121.pdf">http://feministlawarchives.pldindia.org/wp-content/uploads/press-release-on-clab-20121.pdf</a>?
- Robson, J., Newman, L., and O'Hagan, A., 2021. Redrawing the boundaries: the adequacy of the Sexual Offences Act in addressing female sexual offending. *The Journal of Criminal Law* [online], 85(4), 253. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0022018320984451">https://doi.org/10.1177/0022018320984451</a>
- Roy, R., 2023. Male rape myths and the IPC: Making a Comparative Claim for a gender-neutral rape law in India. *Indian Journal of International and Comparative Law*, 1(1), 95.
- Rumney, P., 2007. In defence of Gender Neutrality within rape. *Seattle Journal for Social Justice* [online], 6(1), 481. Available at: <a href="https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol6/iss1/40/">https://digitalcommons.law.seattleu.edu/sjsj/vol6/iss1/40/</a>
- Russell, Y., 2013. Thinking Sexual Difference through the Law of Rape. *Law Critique* [online], 24, 255. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10978-013-9122-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10978-013-9122-4</a>

- Sanyal, D., and Ghosh, A., 2022. Abolishing consummation: the need to de-essentialise sex within marriage. *Indian Law Review* [online], 6(3), 331. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/24730580.2022.2074708">https://doi.org/10.1080/24730580.2022.2074708</a>
- Sebastian, J., 2023. Under-inclusive laws and constitutional remedies: an exploration of the Citizenship (Amendment) Act 2019. *Indian Law Review* [online], 7(3), 341, 354. <u>Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/24730580.2023.2255478</u>
- Sen, R., 2010. Law Commission Reports on Rape. *Economic and Political Weekly* [online], 45(44-45), 81. Available at: <a href="https://www.epw.in/journal/2010/44-45/specials/law-commission-reports-rape.html">https://www.epw.in/journal/2010/44-45/specials/law-commission-reports-rape.html</a>
- Sengupta, A., 2025. Gender Neutrality in Sexual Harassment Laws in India: A Brief Review of Feminist Debates and Judicial Decisions. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 60(4), 62. Available at: <a href="https://www.epw.in/journal/2025/4/notes/gender-neutrality-sexual-harassment-laws-india.html">https://www.epw.in/journal/2025/4/notes/gender-neutrality-sexual-harassment-laws-india.html</a>
- Shantha, S., 2021. Misgendering, Sexual Violence, Harassment: What it Is to Be a Transgender Person in an Indian Prison. *The Wire* [online], 11 February. Available at: <a href="https://thewire.in/lgbtqia/transgender-prisoners-india">https://thewire.in/lgbtqia/transgender-prisoners-india</a>
- Sharma, A., 2020. Addressing the Roadblocks to Gender Neutrality in Sexual and Domestic Violence Laws: A South Asian Perspective. *Journal of Indian Law and Society* [online], 11(2), 79. Available at: <a href="https://jilsblognujs.wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/anupama-sharma\_112.pdf">https://jilsblognujs.wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/anupama-sharma\_112.pdf</a>
- Sharma, J., 2022. Queer Feminism and India's #Metoo. *In*: N. Falkof, S. Phadke and S. Roy, eds., *Intimacy and Injury: In the Wake of #MeToo in India and South Africa*. Manchester University Press.
- Sheikh, D., 2017. Queer Rights and the Puttaswamy Judgment. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 42(51), 51-52. Available at: <a href="https://www.epw.in/journal/2017/51/privacy-after-puttaswamy-judgment/queer-rights-and-puttaswamy-judgment.html">https://www.epw.in/journal/2017/51/privacy-after-puttaswamy-judgment/queer-rights-and-puttaswamy-judgment.html</a>
- Sheikh, D., and Samuel, R., 2024. Beside Marriage Equality: Conversations on Supriyo. *Socio-Legal Review* [online], 20(1). Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.55496/NZAW9232</u>
- Shukla, S., 2020. The L World: Legal Discourses on Queer Women. *NUJS Law Review* [online], 13(3), 564. Available at: <a href="https://nujslawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/13-3-Shukla-The-L-World.pdf">https://nujslawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/13-3-Shukla-The-L-World.pdf</a>
- Sinha, K., 2022. The Regulation, Reclamation, and Resistance of Queer Kinship in Contemporary India. *Feminist Legal Studies* [online], 30, 287. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10691-022-09489-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10691-022-09489-3</a>
- Sjoberg, L., 2016. Women as Wartime Rapists: Beyond Sensation and Stereotyping. New York University Press.
- Stemple, L., 2011. Human Rights, Sex, and Gender: Limits in Theory and Practice. *Pace Law Review* [online], 31(3), 824. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.58948/2331-3528.1788">https://doi.org/10.58948/2331-3528.1788</a>

- TNN, 2012. Cabinet nod to make rape gender-neutral riles women's groups. *Times of India* [online], 20 July. Available at:

  <a href="https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/cabinet-nod-to-make-rape-gender-neutral-riles-womens-groups/articleshow/15049606.cms">https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/cabinet-nod-to-make-rape-gender-neutral-riles-womens-groups/articleshow/15049606.cms</a>
- Touquet, H., 2018. *Unsilenced: Male survivors speak of conflict-related sexual violence in Sri Lanka* [online]. The International Truth and Justice Project (ITJP), 20. Available at: <a href="https://itipsl.com/reports/unsilenced">https://itipsl.com/reports/unsilenced</a>
- TPRS Legislative Research, 2021. *Pendency and Vacancy in the Judiciary* [online]. Available at: <a href="https://prsindia.org/policy/vital-stats/pendency-and-vacancies-in-the-judiciary">https://prsindia.org/policy/vital-stats/pendency-and-vacancies-in-the-judiciary</a>
- Ullrich, L., 2021. But what about men? Gender disquiet in international criminal justice. *Theoretical Criminology* [online], 25(2), 209. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480619887164">https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480619887164</a>
- Vishwanath, N., 2018. The shifting shape of the rape discourse. *Indian Journal of Gender Studies* [online], 25(1), 1. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0971521517738447">https://doi.org/10.1177/0971521517738447</a>
- Vishwanath, N., 2022. Ethnographic study of rape adjudication in Lucknow's trial courts. *Socio-Legal Review* [online], 16(2), 55. Available at: <a href="https://repository.nls.ac.in/slr/vol16/iss2/4/">https://repository.nls.ac.in/slr/vol16/iss2/4/</a>
- Weare, S., 2018. Oh, you're a guy, how could you be raped by a woman, that makes no sense- Towards a case for legally recognising and labelling 'forced-to-penetrate' cases as rape. *International Journal of Law in Context* [online], 14(1), 110. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/S1744552317000179">https://doi.org/10.1017/S1744552317000179</a>
- Zarkov, D., 2022. Sexual Violence Against Men in Contemporary Warfare. *In:* I. Rosenthal *et al.*, eds., *Gender and International Criminal Law* [online]. Oxford University Press, 108-109. Available at: <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198871583.003.0005">https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198871583.003.0005</a>

## Cases

Achin Gupta v Union of India, 2024 SCC Online SC 759.

*Ajay Sahu v State of Chhattisgarh*, 2023 SCC Online Chh 2265.

Ajit Naharsingh Dasana v State of Maharashtra, Bail Application no. 2050 of 2021.

Anamika v Union of India, Writ Petition (Criminal) no. 2357 of 2018 (Delhi High Court).

Anjali Guru Sanjana Jaan v State of Maharashtra & Ors, 2021 SCC Online Bom 11.

Anoop Barnwal v Union of India, 2023 6 SCC 161, 264-266.

Arnesh Kumar v State of Bihar, 2014 8 SCC 273.

Attorney General for India v Satish, 2022 5 SCC 545.

Basanagouda R Patil v Shivananda S Patil, 2024 SCC OnLine Kar 96.

Bhupesh Thakur v State of Himachal Pradesh, 2024 SCC Online HP 4513.

Chinmayee Jena v State of Odisha, 2020 SCC OnLine Ori 602.

Chiranjit Lal Chowdhuri v Union of India AIR, 1950 SC 41, para 86.

Collector of Customs v Nathella Sampathu Chetty AIR, 1962 SC 316, para 34.

Criminal Justice Society of India v Union of India, Writ Petition (Civil) no. 1262/2018 (Supreme Court of India).

Dhananjay Chauhan v Sanjeev Kaushal, 2023 (Punjab and Haryana High Court).

DK Basu v State of West Bengal AIR, 1997 SC 610.

Dr Laxmy Rajamohan v State of Kerala, 2024 KER 23303.

DS Nakara v Union of India, 1983 1 SCC 305, 341.

Ganga Kumari v State of Rajasthan, S.B. Civil Writ Petition no. 14006 of 2016.

Gaurav Jain v Union of India, 1997 8 SCC 114, 128.

Janhit Abhiyan v Union of India, 2023 5 SCC 1, 338-339.

Joseph Shine v Union of India, 2019 3 SCC 39.

*Jyoti Manjappa Prasadavi v State of Maharashtra,* Criminal Bail Application no. 162 of 2024 (Bombay High Court).

K. Thimmappa & Ors v Chairman, Central Board of Directors, 2001 2 SCC 259.

Kahkashan Kausar v State of Bihar, 2022 6 SCC 599.

Kailash Chand Sharma v Union of India, 2002 6 SCC 562, 584-586.

King Victor Marak v State of Meghalaya, 2023 SCC Online Meg 287.

KR Laxman v Karnataka State Electricity Board, 2001 1 SCC 442, 446-447.

KS Puttaswamy v Union of India, 2017 10 SCC 1.

*Ms X v State of Uttarakhand,* Writ Petition (Criminal) no. 28 of 2019.

Mukesh and Anr v State of NCT of Delhi, 2017 6 SCC 1.

Mukesh Bansal v State of UP, 2022 SCC Online All 395.

Nagpur Improvement Trust v Vithal Rao, 1973 1 SCC 500, 506.

NALSA v Union of India, 2014 5 SCC 438.

Navtej Singh Johar v Union of India, 2018 10 SCC 1.

Naz Foundation v Govt. of NCT of Delhi, 2009 111 DRJ 1.

Nirmal Kumar Dey v State of Jharkhand, 2023 SCC Online Jhar 585.

*Om Prakash v State of Haryana*, 2015 2 SCC 84.

People v Liberta 64 N.Y.2d 152, 169.

Priya Patel v Union of India, 2006 6 SCC 263.

*R v Hodge* [2018] EWCA Crime 2501.

R v Ngawahika, 1987 2 CRNZ 433.

Raghavji v State of Madhya Pradesh, 2023 SCC Online 1633.

Rajesh v State House Officer, Writ Petition (Criminal) no. 23803 of 2021.

Ram Bhagat Ram v State, 2009 SCC Online Del 427.

Ramchandra Ramavadh Yadav vs State of Maharashtra, 2019 SCC OnLine Bom 346.

Ranjeet Shahaji Gade v State of Maharashtra, 2021 SCC Online Bom 3061.

Raunak Hajari v State of West Bengal, 2023 SCC Online Cal 370.

Roop Chand Adlakha v Delhi Development Authority, 1989 Supp (1) SCC 116, 124.

S. Sushma v Commissioner of Police, 2021 SCC Online Mad 2096.

Sabuddin v State (NCT of Delhi), 2023 SCC Online Del 2687.

Sakshi v Union of India, 1996 6 SCC 591.

Sanjjiv Kkumaar v Union of India, Writ Petition (Civil) no. 8745 of 2017 (Delhi High Court).

Santhosh @sathiyan v Priyanka, Civil suit no. 127 of 2017.

Satender Kumar Antil v Central Bureau of Investigation, Miscellaneous Application no. 2034/2022.

Shayara Bano v Union of India, 2017 9 SCC 1.

Smruti Tukaram Badade v State of Maharashtra, 2022 SCC Online 78.

Sreeja S. v Commissioner of Police, Thiruvananthapuram, 2018 SCC Online Ker 3578.

*State of Gujarat v Ambica Mills,* 1974 4 SCC 656, 676-677.

State of Rajasthan v Hemraj, 2009 12 SCC 403.

Subramanian Swamy v Union of India, 2015 13 SCC 356.

Suby Antony v Judicial First-Class Magistrate-III, 2025 SCC Online Ker 532.

Sudesh Jhaku v KC Jhaku, 1996 38 DRJ 22.

Supriyo v Union of India, 2023 SCC Online SC 1348.

*Surendra alias Sadhu v State of Chhattisgarh,* 2016 SCC OnLine Chh 2401.

The President v District Collector, 2023 SCC Online Mad 5719.

Vijay v State, 2019 SCC Online Del 10458.

Vikas Sharma v State of Punjab, 2024 SCC Online P&H 3419.

Vishakha v State of Rajasthan, 1997 6 SCC 241.

Vithal Manik Khatri v Sagar Sanjay Kamble (Sakshi Vithal Khatri), Criminal Writ Petition no. 4037 of 2021.

*X v Health Secretary*, State of Kerala, 2023 SCC Online Ker 6244.

Legislations

India

The Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2001.

Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2002 (Redrafted by All India Women's Democratic Alliance).

Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2005 (AIWDA).

The Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2012, 130 of 2012, 3-9.

Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2013, 63 of 2013.

Criminal Law Amendment Bill, 2019 (16 of 2019).

*The Transgender Persons (Protection of Rights) Act,* 2019 (TPA).

Pakistan

Pakistan Penal Code, 1860, Section 375

Bhutan

Bhutan Penal Code, 2004, Section 177.

Nepal

The National Penal (Code) Act, 2017, Clause 221.

Sri Lanka

Penal Code of Sri Lanka, 1883, Section 365B.

Maldives

*The Maldives Penal Code*, 2014, Section 130.

Canada

Canadian Criminal Code, 1985, Sections 271-273.

Ireland

Criminal Law (RAPE) (Amendment) Act, 1990, Sections 2,3,4.

England and Wales

Sexual Offences Act, 2003, Sections 1-4.

New Zealand

*The Crimes Act*, 1961, Section 128 (New Zealand).

Australia

Crimes Act, 1958, Section 38-40 (Victoria).

Criminal Law Consolidation Act, 1935, Sections 48-49 (South Australia).

Criminal Code Act, 1899, Sections 349-352 (Queensland).

Criminal Code Act, 1924, Section 185 and 127 (Tasmania).

Criminal Code, 1913, Section 325 (Western Australia).